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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements is set out below:

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T FEHBEME

AEEBEZDBAVRFENRERE
= BENRFERESHME(EixEET
BZREGIHEHRREIILT

RESULTS E
For the year ended 3| December
BZNA3RALEEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKF000  HK$O000
FHExT FET FHEIT FHEIT FHEIT
Turnover —E 3 62,388 68,571 218721 120,877 175932
Loss for the year FANEE (65,102)  (88319)  (41566)  (34534)  (74.241)
Loss attributable to: AN ZIE R EE
Owners of the Company VIN/NIE Z =N (49,023) (66,628) (38,804) (11,862) (63417)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR (16,079)  (21,691) (2762)  (22672)  (10824)
(65,102) (88,319) (41,566) (34,534) (74,241)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BE  BERFERER
As at 3| December
AI12A318
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKF000  HK$O000
FHExT FET FHEIT FHIT FHEIT
Total assets WEE 335,205 386,524 557,610 653,854 710,140
Total liabilities BEaE (145,891)  (130917)  (194,877)  (244,608)  (268469)
Net assets BEFHE 189,314 255,607 362,733 409,246 441 67|
Attributable to: AN IEfER -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE PN 134,975 198,378 281,128 324,184 338,691
Non-controlling interests FEFE = 54,339 57,229 81,605 85,062 102,980
189,314 255,607 362,733 409,246 441 671
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

The board of directors (the “Board” and the “Directors”) of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present
the 2023 annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) for the year

ended 31 December 2023 (“Current Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Current Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$62.4 million
as compared with HK$68.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
("Corresponding Year”), gross profit of HK$13.1 million as compared with
HK$14.2 million in Corresponding Year and net loss of HK$65.1 million as
compared with HK$88.3 million in Corresponding Year.

Sports and Entertainment Business

The Group is principally engaged in the Sports and Entertainment Business.
MetaSpace (Beijing) Air Dome Corp.* (*MetaSpace”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is a leading integrated service provider in the PRC
focusing on construction, operation and management of air-dome facilities. These
air domes can be widely applied in five major scopes: (i) sports, (i) commercial
and cultural tourism, (i) industrial and environmental protection, (iv) agricultural

warehousing, and (v) highland oxygen enrichment.

The development of the air dome industry in China was initially sparked by
the adoption of foreign technology. As domestic manufacturers have steadily
expanded, foreign companies have progressively withdrawn from the Chinese
market. At present, the domestic air dome market is highly concentrated, with
leading enterprises possessing distinct competitive advantages. Nonetheless, the
air dome market remains predominantly populated by small and medium-sized
enterprises, with key players located in first-tier regions including Beijing, Shanghai,

and Shenzhen.

*  For identification purpose only

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As the air dome technology advances, the public has increasingly recognised
and accepted this innovative structure. Furthermore, the economic stimulus
policies introduced by the Chinese government have created new demand
for air dome structures. On one hand, through competitive negotiations
and tenders, MetaSpace actively utilises its own technical advantages and
professional competences to provide customers with comprehensive solutions.
While establishing nationwide sales channels and diversifying its success cases,
the company manages to increase market share, and convinces customers to
recognise and accept its products and services. On the other hand, MetaSpace
pursues market expansion through various professional exhibitions such as sports
expos and logistics expos, establishes the MetaSpace brand within the industry,
and enhances the market awareness of the dome structure technology. Besides
promoting MetaSpace's technical advantages through professional exhibitions,
forums, and other forms, the company enters into collaboration with various
partners on promoting the application of the dome structure technology in target
industries. Meanwhile, MetaSpace will actively seek opportunities for its business

expansion to other Asian countries.

As a leading enterprise in China's air domes industry, MetaSpace is committed
to promoting a green and environmental-friendly air domes system, skeleton
domes, tensioned domes and other full series of domes structure products, as
well as promoting an advanced technology concepts based on domes structure.
Facing the new era of “Carbon Neutral” and “Carbon Peak”, the Company has
initiated corresponding campaigns realising sustainability, insisting on integrating
the concept of sustainable development into R&D, design, parts procurement,
manufacturing, installation and operation and maintenance services, etc.,, with
the aim of building a sustainable eco-friendly industrial chain, promoting the
sustainable development of MetaSpace and the society, and maintaining the title

of “Climate Pioneer” throughout the whole process.

In 2023, as we progressed beyond three years of COVID-19 pandemic control
measures, the overall economy experienced recovery and growth. In China,
the economy has demonstrated steady growth, although it still faced certain
risks and challenges. The central government has been advocating for high-
quality development, with a focus on enhancing economic infrastructure. It
has introduced a series of policies designed to stimulate consumption and
expand domestic demand, aiming to achieve growth that is both qualitative and

quantitative.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

With the accomplishment of various key projects, such as the National Winter
Sports Training Base in Chengde, the Curling and Ice Hockey Sports Center for
peoples with disabilities in Beijing, the air dome-enclosed coal shed project in
Indonesia, air dome winery in Jiangsu Province and Olympic stadium for throwing
events in Hebei, MetaSpace has successfully demonstrated its expertise. Coupled
with the ongoing enhancement in the innovation and application of spatial
system solutions based on dome structure, MetaSpace has secured its position
as a market leader in the air dome market of China, leading by the number of

projects implemented in recent years.

During the year, through tendering and commercial negotiations, MetaSpace had
signed 33 new contracts with a total amount of RMB220 million, as compared to

28 new contracts with a total amount of RMB120 million in the previous year.

The Group’s Sports and Entertainment Business recorded revenue of HK$61.4

million in Current Year as compared to HK$68.3 million in Corresponding Year.

Meanwhile in Current Year this business had a loss before tax amounted
to HK$37.4 million (inclusive of impairment losses on contract assets, trade
receivables and inventories of HK$10.7 million), and that of Corresponding Year
was HK$39.6 million (inclusive of impairment losses on contract assets, trade
receivables and inventories of HK$18.7 million). With substantial new contracts
in the pipeline, the management is cautiously optimistic about performance next

year.

Money Lending Business

The Group runs the Money Lending Business and provides lending to third party
customers through an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary. During the Current
Year, the Group’s lending business contributed interest income of HK$2.2
million (Corresponding Year: HK$3.2 million). As at 31 December 2023, there
were four (2022: two) active loan accounts, gross loan balances of which were
HK$26.0 million (2022: HK$18.5 million). The tenors of the loans ranged from
12 to 24 months (2022: 12 to 24 months). The weighted average interest rate of
the outstanding loans as of 31 December 2023 was 12.0% (2022: 12.3%).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Adhering to a robust risk management and control policies and balancing the
liquidity needs of the Group, the Group will remain diligent to allocate internal

capital to potential credible projects to generate a stable retumn.

Manufacturing and Sale of White Pigment Powder (“VWPP”) Business

In the Corresponding Year, the Group initiated a new WPP business by
establishing a 51% owned subsidiary in the PRC with a registered capital of
RMBI10O million. The subsidiary is indirectly held by the Group through a 60%
owned subsidiary, and is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of WPP which chemical name is Titanium Dioxide. This product is excellent
in whitening almost every material, weather-resistant, and has a diversified
applications (e.g, in coatings, plastics, rubber, paper and daily chemicals). China
is currently the largest manufacturer and consumer of this product. The WPP
business has a registered patent for its manufacturing process which is more
environmental-friendly, cost-efficient and quality-guaranteed than conventional

methods. Main target customers are paper-manufacturers and coating companies.

Over the year, unfortunately the WPP business did not happen to be as
promising as expected, due to the fact that our target customers were severely
impacted by the downturn of macroeconomy. Not only did their demand for
procuring new materials greatly shrink, but also our price advantage diminished.
Consequently in Current Year, the Group recognised impairment losses of
HK$7.7 million in this respect (Corresponding Year: nil). Nevertheless, the
management is still staying tuned in the market by keeping close contact with and

by sending samples to potential customers.

During the Current Year, in respect of the WPP business, the Group recognised
revenue of HK$1.0 million (Corresponding Year: HK$0.3 million) and a loss
before tax of HK$10.6 million (Corresponding Year: HK$ 1.4 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit

In Current Year, the Group’s revenue, predominately contributed from Sports
and Entertainment Business, was HK$62.4 million, slightly dropped by 9.0% from
that of HK$68.6 million in the Corresponding Year. Gross margin was 21.0%,
comparable to 20.7% of last year.

Other Income and Gains or Losses

In Current Year the Group had other income of HK$8.6 million (Corresponding
Year: HK$12.2 million). Other income mainly included interest income,
investment income and rental income. The drop of HK$3.6 million was because

of reduced investment returns and smaller rental concessions received.

Meanwhile the Group recorded other gains of HK$4.5 million (Corresponding
Year: other losses of HK$0.5 million). Other gains or losses represented
incidental gains or losses arising upon derecognition of assets (including financial
assets, investments in subsidiaries or associate, property, plant and equipment)
as well as fair value changes in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Please refer to Note 5 to the financial statements.

Selling and Distribution Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses were largely the employee benefit expenses
incurred by marketing department, and the miscellaneous expenditures involved

in exhibitions or public events for the Sports and Entertainment Business.
Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses in the Current Year mainly composed of employee
benefit expenses of HK$17.6 million, research and development cost of HK$6.7

million, as well as depreciation and amortisation charge of HK$9.6 million.

Total administrative expenses remained comparable over the past two years.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment of Goodwiill
The Group had goodwill of HK$29.1 million arising from acquisition of
MetaSpace but such had been entirely written-off in the Corresponding Year due

to the unfulfilling performances in the Sports and Entertainment business.

Impairment of Financial and Contract Assets
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets represented the net changes
in the provision for expected credit loss made for debt investments, trade

receivables and contract assets. Please refer to Note 6 to the financial statements.

Other Expenses and Losses

Other expenses and losses of Current Year were mainly impairment losses
recognised on the WPP Business (Corresponding Year: impairment losses on the
Sports and Entertainment Business), whereas the assets, categorised by property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and inventories, were written down to

the estimated recoverable amounts.

Finance Costs
Finance costs were HK$ 1.7 million in Current Year (Corresponding Year: HK$2.4

million), being interest on borrowings and interest on lease liabilities.

Net Loss after Taxation

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$65.1 million in the Current Year, which
was HK$23.2 million reduced from last year. The Corresponding Year had a
larger extent in the loss mainly because of the large one-off goodwill impairment as

above-mentioned.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
for deregistration of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries which gave rise to a gain of
HK$5.1 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

FINANCIAL POSITION

Debt Investments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income represents
corporate bonds purchased by the Group. These corporate bonds are measured
at fair value as determined by reference to the quoted bid prices at the reporting

date in the over-the-counter markets.

The Group's strategy is to hold these corporate bonds for long term purpose
to earn an attractive yield. Nevertheless, the Group does not preclude the
possibility of disposing some corporate bonds before maturity if such disposal
will be in the best interest of the Company in light of various factors such as the
prospect of bond issuers and their industries, any favorable perks to early redeem

and immediate liquidity needs for operations or better investments.

Over the year the performance of these corporate bonds continued the
gloomy sentiment in recent years. Bond prices, while still adversely affected by
unfavourable market condition, were generally dropping owing to concerns about
the liquidity and going concern issues and the tightening gearing policy over the
PRC real estate developers. Certain of the corporate bonds held by the Group
were in default and certain of them were contemplating debt restructuring

exercises.

In Current Year, investment income from bonds was HK$1.5 million
(Corresponding Year: HK$ 1.7 million). Besides, a fair-value loss of HK$6.8 million
(Corresponding Year: HK$9.1 million) was recognised in the equity, while an
impairment loss of HK$9.3 million (Corresponding Year: HK$6.4 million) was

recognised in the profit or loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmE DN

As at 3|1 December 2023
20235128318

Percentage of
market value

Face value of to the Group’s
Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
mEGEEE
BEH REEN
RS BHRITA B HE miE BAL
UsD'000 HK$'000
TET TAET
3333 China Evergrande Group
ST EPN S
(a) 8.25%, due 2022 500
(a) 8.25% * 20224F EI| HA
(b) 7.5%, due 2023 500
(b) 7.5% * 2023F EI|HA
1,000 17 0.03%
618 Nuoxi Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 375 117 0.03%
Peking University Founder Group Co., Ltd.
(5.25%, due 2023)
HEREARBRARF - AT EEBERRFZEE
B8 2 ) (5.25% - 20234 FIHA)
2777 Easy Tactic Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 420 I35 0.04%
Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd.
(6.5% in cash/7.5% with payment-in-kind,
due 2025)
BERARLAR - BNEIMEROMBERARZEE
IR (VAR E6.5%, AB W 5K7.5%
2025 2IH])
[ 107 Modern Land (China) Co,, Ltd.
EREX(PBR)ARAT
(@) 7% in cash/9% with payment-in-kind, due 2023 200
@URIRE7%, AW FRI% - 20235 5|5
(b) 9% in cash/| 1% with payment-in-kind, due 2027 399
(b)LAIR 9%, LAB WIS 5R119% + 20274 EI HA
599 70 0.02%

LERE T EEEBERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=424
BEENWNR DM
As at 31 December 2023
M20235F12A31H
Percentage of
market value
Face value of to the Group’s
Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
MmEEFREER
BEH REEN
A IR BERITA BH5EE miE BOl
Usb'000 HK$'000
TET TAET
3383 Agile Group Holdings Ltd. (8.375%, perpetual) 500 153 0.05%
T R BRI B R AR (8.375% » KA)
1777 Fantasia Holdings Group Co,, Ltd. (11.75%, due 2022) 340 63 0.02%
e EBARRR(11.75% @ 20225 215))
1638 Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. (11.25%, due 2022) 348 78 0.02%
EREEEERERARF (11.25% » 2022F 5 H)
1668 China South City Holdings Ltd.
EERERAR AR
(a) 9%, due 2024 450
(a) 9% + 20244F 5|57
(b) 9%, due 2024 438
(b) 9% * 20244 ZI| HA
(c) 9%, due 2024 440
(c) 9% * 20244F E|HA
1,328 2,261 0.67%

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmE DN

As at 3|1 December 2023

R2023F 128318

Face value of

Percentage of
market value
to the Group’s

Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
MmEEFREER
BEH REEN
B LER BERITA BH5EE miE BOL
UsD'000 HK$'000
TET TAET
600606 Greenland Global Investment Ltd,, a wholly-owned 190 207 0.06%
subsidiary of Greenland Holdings Corp. Ltd.
(5.9%, due 2023)
U EHRIRERRAR] - SHEREBROEBRA
Az 2 BB AT (59%  2023F 5| H)
656 Fortune Star (BVI) Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 500 3,697 [.10%
Fosun Intermational Limited (6.85%, due 2024)
Fortune Star (BV) Ltd. * IEEBIRBRARIZ &
BB 2 A1 (6.85% - 20244 EHA)
N/A Qinghai Provincial Investment Group Co,, Ltd. 371 59 0.02%
(6.4%, due 2021)
TER BEERESHERAT(64% - 2021 5F51H)
N/A Tianjin State-owned Capital Investment and Management 504 767 0.23%
Co,, Ltd. (0.15%, due 2026)
TER REBREAREBLHFRAF(0.15% * 20265FEIH)
6,475 7,725 2.30%

tREEXEXEEGRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group included

both listed equity investment and unlisted equity investment.

The listed equity investments represented securities listed in Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange, while the unlisted equity
investment represented an equity interest in a private company engaged in the

pharmaceutical industry in the PRC.

During the Current Year, investment income from financial assets at FVPL
recognised in profit or loss amounted to HK$0.6 million (Corresponding Year:
HK$ 1.8 million).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is in a net cash position of HK$62.9 million
(2022: HK$78.5 million), with cash and bank balances of HK$87.0 million (2022:
HK$105.3 million) and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$24.1
million (2022: HK$26.7 million).

The Group’s net cash outflow from operating activities for the Current Year

amounted to HK$3.4 million (Corresponding Year: HK$69.1 million).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmE DN

The following table sets forth certain of the key financial ratios:

TEREFIETEEMHLE -

3| December 2023

31 December 2022

2023128318 202212831 H
Liquidity ratios REBESL=E
Current ratio®” MBYLEL RO .55 | 94
Quick ratio® RELEL RO 1.40 |71
Capital adequacy ratios EXFZER
Gearing ratio® BERBELLLEO 0.13 0.10
Debt to total assets ratio® BESEEEEL RO 0.07 0.07
Notes: M 5E

(1) Current assets divided by current liabilities
(2)  Current assets less inventories divided by current liabilities
3) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by total equity

(4)  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by total assets

Capital Expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure was HK$2.1 million (Corresponding Year:
HK$2.0 million), representing additions to property, plant and equipment of the
Group.

Capital Commitments
As at 3| December 2023, the Group did not have significant capital
commitments (2022: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability (2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2023, except for the charge over the buildings and right-
of-use assets with the carrying value of HK$49.7 million and HK$19.7 million
respectively for securing the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings (2022:
the charge over the buildings and right-of-use assets with the carrying value of
HK$56.5 million and HK$20.5 million respectively), the Group did not have any

charges on assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere on this report, the Group did not have any significant

events after the reporting period.

POSSIBLE RISK EXPOSURE
Credit Risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with exposure spread
over a large number of counterparties and customers. The carrying amounts
of bank balances, trade receivables, contract assets, debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income and other receivables represent
the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The
Group will adhere to a robust credit approval procedure when granting credits to
new customers of Sports and Entertainment Business. The Group also regularly
reviews and monitors the level of exposure and credibility of counterparties
to ensure that prompt follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, at the end of each reporting year, the recoverability of each trade
debt is evaluated so as to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors are of the view that the

Group's credit risk is properly addressed.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks

with high credit-ratings.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity Risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a substantial portion of its
financial assets and financial liabilities are due within one year. With sufficient
excess of current assets over current liabilities, it can finance its operations from

existing shareholders’ funds and internally generated cash flows.

For the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances
and cash deemed adequate to finance the Group'’s operations and mitigate the
effect of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group monitors current and expected

liquidity requirements on a regular basis.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily with respect to
Renminbi and United States dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, as well as recognised assets and liabilities. The Group's
exposure to foreign exchange risks also related to bank balances denominated
in and debt investments denominated in United States Dollars (USD) in Hong
Kong. Given the fact that the Hong Kong Dollar is pegged to the USD under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, the fluctuation of the exchange rate of this
pair is not significant. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in RMB and certain transactions with other Asian countries
denominated in USD. The Group may enter foreign currency forward contracts
which are aligned with the terms of receivables to mitigate the exposure. Overall,
management considers that the Group's businesses are not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets or liabilities of the
Group are denominated in the currencies other than the respective functional

currencies of the Group’s entities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmRON

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 127 (2022: 141) full-time employees

in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group reviews remuneration and benefits of
its employees annually according to the relevant market practice and individual

performance of the employees.

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualification, competence and
experience in the industry, the profitability of the Group as well as remuneration
benchmarks from other local and international companies and prevailing market
conditions. Directors and employees also participate in bonus arrangements
which are determined in accordance with the performance of the Group and the
individual's performance. In addition, the Company has adopted a share option

scheme as incentives to directors and eligible persons.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend to
shareholders for Current Year. The declaration, payment, and amount of future
dividends will be decided by the Board and will depend upon, among other
things, the Group's result of operations, capital requirements, cash flows, general

financial conditions, and such other factors as the Board may consider important.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present the report and the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the sports and entertainment related industry in the PRC with focus
in air dome construction, operation and management. Details of the Company'’s

principal subsidiaries are set out in Note | to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) can be found
in the sections with headings of “Management Discussion and Analysis”, and
“Five-Year Financial Summary” set out on pages 6 to 20 and page 5 of this
Annual Report respectively. Description of the risks and uncertainties facing the

Company can be found throughout this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group believes that sustainable development is an integral part of our
business. We aim at creating long-term values for our stakeholders and
contributing to the society by carrying out our business in a socially responsible
way. The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability and
comply with PRC national, provincial and municipal governments’ environmental
protection laws and regulations. The Company is also dedicated to promoting
energy conservation and responding proactively to climatic changes, so as to
facilitate efficient use of energy by taking several measures including constantly
carries out internal recycling measures in terms of its consumables (e.g. toner
cartridge and paper) and implementing energy-saving policies to reduce electricity
consumption, in order to lessen the impact on environment from operating

activities to achieve the target of sustainable development.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

on pages 69 to 70 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend to the

shareholders for the year 31 December 2023.

CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 7 June 2024 to 14 June 2024 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 14 June 2024, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, |7/F, Far East Finance Centre, |6 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 6 June 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board of Directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 3| December 2023, there was no material breach of, or noncompliance,

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in Note |12 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page | of this Annual Report. This summary does not

form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during

the year are set out in Notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 73 to 74 of this Annual
Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the accumulated loss of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$534.6 million (2022: HK$472.6 million). Under section 34
of the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
available for distribution to the shareholders subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), and
no distribution may be paid to the shareholders out of the Company’s share
premium unless the Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for 49% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to 13%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers

accounted for 25% of the total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest customers and suppliers.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeem any listed

securities of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed below,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had issued or granted any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights or exercised any rights in relation to
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year ended 3|

December 2023.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank and other borrowings of amount
HK$24.1 million maturing within | year (2022: HK$26.7 million maturing within |

year).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any finance lease liability (2022:
nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Tak

Mr. Hou Gongda

Non-executive Director

Mr. Hu Yebi

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming

Mr. Xin Luo Lin

Mr. Pan Lihui

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith

In accordance with articles 86(3), 87(1) and 87(2) of the Articles of Association
and code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules, Mr. Liu Xue Heng, Mr. Hou Gongda,
and Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("“AGM") of the Company. All of the above retiring Directors
are eligible and will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of

the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be

independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographies of Directors of the Group are set out on pages 56 to 59 of this
Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company is not aware of any
change in the information of the Director since the date of the interim report

2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the Company'’s
forthcoming annual general meeting has service contracts with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings;
other emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group as well as the recommendation of the remuneration committee.

Details of the Directors and chief executive's remuneration and the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out on Notes 8 and 9 to the financial

statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, which subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed

during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group'’s business, which competes or competed or is or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to and including the date of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and chief executive in
the shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ™)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as

set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), are as follows:

INTEREST IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Number of

ordinary shares

EEERE

EERBFERhAER

REZE203FN2A3IBEFEREAEER
FWABM(BEZA) EAEAERM - 8
BREFHEASEXRKEENHEERE
KB FAENRAIGEFAES B RAEFE
BRFEEM EE (REBEEBRIN) F 7%
BB TR

ESREFRITRAERKRG - HEKRSD
RE#RP 2 EERKXR

F2023F 12A31H - EFEREFETHRA
BRARFNEEER(ERRBLR
HAE &0 ([ B 5 R EIE A ) EEXVER) 2
G A RSN AR RIRIEE F K H
BI&BIFE3I215E7FE 2 F MRz L
MR A ERCIFTE LT EIT AE ST
BHRX G2 BEFR([BETFR]ES
TR ARNR B R T2 s T

g

\

=z

RA R TR 89S

Number of
underlying shares

held pursuant to Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity and nature (Note (i) share options issued shares
RBERE
EBER#E FEZ HEBTRG
EEHA BORME (FRE(D)) HERDEE B
Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Note (ii))  Beneficial owner - 9,680,000 0.69%
B2 18 5T 4 (B RE() BEmEAA
Mr. Hu Yebi Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
B R KL BEaEAA
Controlled corporation (note (iii)) 258,707,500 - 18.37%
SR E (B Ein))
Controlled corporation (note (iii)) 922,500 - 0.07%

eyl A (R R Gii))
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Number of

ordinary shares

Number of
underlying shares

held pursuant to

Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity and nature (Note (i) share options issued shares
RIBRBRE

HERHE KEZ HEBITRG
EEpA SHORMHE (BIEEG)) HERDEE Bkt
Mr. Lam Ka Tak Beneficial owner - 290,500 0.02%
MEiBEE BExEBA
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
NS ExEBA
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming Beneficial owner 295,000 - 0.02%
LIPS E ExSEBA
Mr. Xin Luo Lin Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
FRMELE ExSEBA
Mr. Pan Lihui Beneficial owner 347,600 - 0.02%
AV bivtas ExEBA
Notes: F5E
(i) Interests in shares of the Company stated above represent long positions. ()  ERRERRRGEERIETRE °

(i) Mr. Liu Xue Heng is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Chairman of (i) BIBEXEARRAFTITHREHFESEE
the Board. J& o

(i) 258,707,500 shares and 922,500 shares are held by Hollyview International Limited and (i) Hollyview International Limited & Power Ace
Investments Limited 5 A 258,707,500 % K
922,500 - sz MfE A B2 Bl AR 32
ERERERER s - Bt B
ERRPEERD - HEEREANZER
FEHI AR AR R

Power Ace Investments Limited, which are wholly-owned and halfly-owned by Mr. Hu
Yebi respectively. Mr. Hu is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by

these controlled companies under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive had registered Br BRI ERE SN - 72023 12 431 A
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the REZEAREEH  F2RFETHA
Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded EMEN AR R EEMERER 2K
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO as at 3| December 2023 and up to the date N AEERNDEEFEPEEAREE

7 K BB (R DI B 352 R e EfRI B B AT
HRRAR -

of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading "Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debenture of the Company granted to any director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the "‘Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Further details of the

Scheme are disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed at an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 18 June 2021, the Company approved the termination
of existing share option scheme (“Old Scheme”) and adoption of new share

option scheme (“New Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to grant
options to selected eligible persons including employee(s) and Directors as
incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the Shares in

issue on the date of approving the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to any employee(s) (including
cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in any |2-month period up to the

date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

EEERE
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AN B ([ 5t al)) -

BREASEEGREEGAIMLTEY
EEBAT(BEEERES)KEER
o ERBEHAREEELSAREED
BRI RN SR - RITRREEARE
FT &8I AR X BT fa] Efh BE AR A 51 8 PR
PTEBREMATREETHNROEE &
PR - NEHEBEREBRESSIB BB
BITIRDEY10% °

EEERL BB IEREMR 121 A 2
W EflE E ATEBBRERERT SR
AR AR E b BRI R Bl E B
EERERERDNERE(BEEEHE
EATER B ARITE R BEARKE ) M 21T &
TEITHORMEE LR - TFHBBATE
BEITIRNEY 1% °

tREEXEXEEGRAR
SEC=FFR

29



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of ordinary shares in the
capital of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

in issue from time to time.

A share option granted under the Share Option Scheme is personal to the
grantee and shall not be assignable or transferable. Share options do not counter
rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the

Company.

As at 31 December 2023, there are 35,142,000 outstanding share options,
representing approximately 2.50% of the total number of shares in issue. On
the basis of 1,408,019,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023, and taking
into account the outstanding 35,142,000 share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for up to a total of 35,142,000 shares, the Company
may grant share options to eligible participants conferring on them right to
subscribe for a total of up to 104,659,900 shares representing approximately
7.50% of the total number of shares in issue as at 31 December 2023. Coupled
with the outstanding share options granted, the total is within the said limit of
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time as required under

the Share Option Scheme.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine but in any
event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Save as determined by
the Board and provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant options, there is

no minimum holding period before an option is exercisable.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within twenty-one days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable to our
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
exercise price is to be determined by the Board provided always that it shall
be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer for the grant
of the option, which must be a trading day; and (i) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, provided
that the exercise price shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of one

share.

The New Scheme will be expired on |7 June 2031 if not be terminated by
any general meeting earlier. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is

approximately 8 years at the report date.

The following table disclosures movements in the Company's share options

outstanding during the year:

Number of share options

EEERE

REBRENZZVEANREE@ERZ
ZB(BEER) B -T—HREM-
REMREBRENEZZR - ARARQ
AN EREI00BT - (THEEKRESE
BE  BR—UERTIEER TSR
=E ()R E A RERMBRONIE
HEREERENEZER(ARRSH)
BT ¢ R (i) B R AT B IRERFTHR
BN EZEELBRAMAEEEBNT
HTE - TR EER DA EFER
— R B EE °

T &R 2031 F6 A 178 Em(HRE
BEMKRRERAGRELIL) - REBEH
HY - BERIEET S 2 FISRF ALY R84 -

NRWE AR RIF R AT T B RE

BREYE
Exercise
price of
At Granted Exercised Forfeited At Date of grant of share options
Name or category of | January during the during the during the 31 December  share options  Exercise period of HK$ per share
participant 2023 year year year 2023 (Note (i)) share options (Note (i)
RhBRE BRETHER
RUBE  REFER  REEER REFER RAOBFE AH BRE BRAET
pHEASEEER |18 R {2y ‘i AR (FE() TiEHE (B (i)
Directors:
gz
Mr. Liu Xue Heng 9,680,000 - - - 9680000 8 Apni2016 8 Apri 2016 to 7 Aprl 2026 0.764
L EbiE 0I6F4A8E  0I6E4A8HZ
026F4ATH
Mr. Hu Yebi 968,000 - - - 968000 8 Apnl2016 8 Apri 2016 to 7 Apri 2026 0764
HEELE 0I6F4A8H  0I6F4AEE

20264 A7H

tREEXEXEEGRAR
SEC=FFR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

Number of share options

BRENE
Exercise
price of
At Granted Exercised Forfeited At Date of grant of share options
Name or category of | January during the during the during the 31 December  share options  Exercise period of HK$ per share
participant 2023 year year year 2023 (Note (1)) share options (Note (i)
RHBRE BRETHER
R03E  RAFER  REEER RMAFER ROBE RS BRE BRAT
IS REER |AIA R {1 ‘e nAuNE () TR (R&E (i)
Mr. Lam Ka Tak 290,500 - - - 290500 8 Apri 2016 8 Apnil 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
WEELE 0I6F4A8H  0I6F4AEE
2026F4A7H
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith 968,000 - - - 968,000 8 April 2016 8 April 2016 to 7 April 2026 0764
AR WI6F4A8R  0I6F4ABRE
02654A7H
Mr. Xin Luo Lin 968,000 - - - 968000 8 Apri2016 8 Apnl 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
TR 0I6F4A8H  WI6F4AEE
2026F4A7H
12874500 - - - 12874500
Other employees: 22267500 - - - 22267500 8 Apri2016 8 Apnl2016to 7 April 2026 0.764
RAES - 0I6F4A8H  0I6F4ABHE
02654A7H
35,142,000 - - - 35,142,000
Notes: M5E
0) The vesting period of the share options granted on 8 April 2016 is: first 30% was vested 0 7201654 A8 E 5 2 M B ) 57 8 4
in one year after 8 April 2016, second 40% was vested in two years after 8 April 2016 R EHL30%R2016F4 AR &R —FRE
and remaining 30% was vested in three years after 8 April 2016. The share options are B FH40%R2016F4 8B RMFN
exercisable from the vesting date until 7 April 2026. B KB T 30% 0 2016F4 A8 HIR =F A
BB o BT B BB R B E E2026F4
R7BHIREAT(E
(i) The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or (i) FBASIE 2 1T B s P AR S B ATAL A S
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. AR RIERA Z AR B % -
(i) The closing prices of the Company's shares immediately before the date on which the (i) ARBRDREEANFEBBRER L B

options were granted during the year on 8 April 2016 was HK$0.764 per share.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No other contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of

the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO shows that the Company had been notified of the
following substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, representing 5%

or more of the Company'’s issued shares:

EEERE

EENEASHER
£ SN A A T A A AR
ST MR A A [ R T A
EMAEEEBN LM EAANTEE
A EAME -

FERRAEQTRDNERERG 2’
wmRAXR

2023 12 A31 8 - IRIEFHKBAEK
BIEBHTFEZ T ERRECMET
ARG EBAG TIEFERR 2 ER R
HRBIEANR B Z BEBEITRRDS%EIA L

Percentage

Number of Number of the

ordinary of share Company’s

Name Notes  Capacity and nature of interest shares held options held issued shares

(RSN

FrigEER  FARBRE CRORG

o Wik BOREEME #E #A Bk

Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited Directly beneficially owned 353,000,000 - 25.07%
EREFEER)BRAT ERELER

Hollyview International Limited (i) Directly beneficially owned 258,707,500 - 18.37%
Hollyview Intemational Limited BERERHA

Mr. Hu Yebi (i) Through controlled corporations 260,598,000 - 18.51%
HEBEEL BRI RAHE

Directly beneficially owned - 968,000 0.07%
BRERHER

Pieta Investment Limited (ii) Directly beneficially owned 123,507,500 - 8.77%
Pieta Investment Limited HEEEHRAE

Ms. Han Jun (ii) Through a controlled corporation 123,507,500 - 8.77%
BEZL BRI RAHE

LERE T EEEBERAT
“e-—g25 30
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Percentage

Number of Number of the

ordinary of share Company’s

Name Notes  Capacity and nature of interest shares held options held issued shares

(CESNG

FrisEER  FEERE ERORG

£ Wi BORERME #E L B

Mass Talent Financial Limited (iif) Directly beneficially owned 76,200,000 - 541%
Mass Talent Financial Limited EREBRER

Mr. Niu Zhongjie (i) Through a controlled corporation 76,200,000 - 541%
FEZEE BBXLE

Directly beneficially owned 290,500 - 0.02%

BERERHR
Notes:
() Mr. Hu Yebi is the sole beneficial shareholder of Hollyview International Limited.
(ii) Ms. Han Jun is the sole beneficial shareholder of Pieta Investment Limited.

(i) Mr. Niu Zhongjie is the sole beneficial shareholder of Mass Talent Financial Limited.

(iv)  The letter L denotes a long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, no person, other than
the directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out
in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was

required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party and connected transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is contained in Note 35 to the

financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

In the PRC, the Group contributes to social insurance on a monthly basis for its
employees. The Group has no further obligation for payment of post-retirement

benefits to employees beyond the aforesaid contributions made by the Group.

The Group also participates in mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group and are under the control of an independent trustee. Both
the Group and its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’
monthly salaries, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Members are entitled to 100% of the employers’ mandatory contributions as
soon as they are paid to the MPF Scheme but all benefits derived from the
mandatory contributions must be preserved until an employee reaches the

retirement age of 65 or in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers arising out of corporate
activities. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when
the Directors’ report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with

section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year

or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2023.

DONATION

There were no charitable donations made by the Group for the year ended 3|

December 2023 and 2022.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders
by reason of their holdings of the shares. If shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising

of any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules since the listing of the shares on 16 January

2012.

LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this report, the Group had no

significant pending litigation or arbitration.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability (2022: nil).
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any capital commitments
(2022: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up

to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to adopting corporate governance practices. The
Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the

corporate governance report on pages 38 to 55 of this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Moore CPA Limited who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the for the coming AGM. Having approved by the Board upon
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, a resolution to re-appoint Moore
CPA Limited as the independent auditor of the Company and to authorise the

Board to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Xue Heng
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERARSE

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders and to enhance accountability
and transparency. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
CG Code under Appendix CI of the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate

governance.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this

annual report, except the following deviations:

Code provision C.2.1

According to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Liu Xue Heng has
been both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considered that Mr. Liu Xue Heng has in-depth knowledge
and experience in the sports and entertainment related business in the PRC; and
he is the most appropriate person. Notwithstanding the above, the Board will
review the current structure from time to time. When at the appropriate time
and if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience can
be identified within or outside the Group, the Company may make necessary

arrangements.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and four Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs"). The brief
biographic details of and the relationship among Board members is set out in
the Directors Profiles section on pages 56 to 59. The Board has established
three Board committees, namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee. Attendance of the Board meetings, the meetings
of the Board committees and the annual general meetings for the year ended
31 December 2023 held on 16 June 2023 is set out below. The respective
responsibilities of the Board and Board committees are discussed later in this

report.
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The composition of the Board and the attendance of individual members of the

Board and Board committees meetings during the year ended 31 December

2023 are set out in the table below:

Directors

8=
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EREBRE
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Board
Meeting
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Audit
Committee
Meeting
FHZAR
a3

Remuneration Nomination
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Executive Directors
HITES

Mr. Liu Xue Heng
2B L4

Mr. Lam Ka Tak
MEIEEE

Mr. Hou Gongda
BEIEESE

Non-executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Hu Yebi
FEESE=Y vl

Independent Non-executive Directors
BAFHITES

Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming
ZERLEE

Mr. Xin Luo Lin
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Mr. Pan Lihui

B IEEE

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith
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All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters. There is
an established procedure for Directors to obtain independent professional advice

at the expense of the Company in discharge of their duties.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. Notice of
at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all regular board meetings
and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary.
Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect of regular board meetings are
sent out in full to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to Directors for comment within a

reasonable time prior to confirmation.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7 of the CG
Code, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive directors without the presence of other directors (the "“Chairman
and Independent Non-executive Directors Meeting”). During the year and
up to the date of this report, one Chairman and Independent Non-executive

Directors Meeting was held.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by duly
appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors have access to
board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate information
on a timely manner, which enable the Board to make an informed decision on

matters placed before it.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
During 2023, Mr. Liu Xue Heng has been both the Chairman the CEO of

the Group. The Chairman provides leadership to management in respect of
operational issues. The CEO has overall chief executive responsibility for the
Group's business development and day-to-day management generally. Though it
does not follow the code provision C.2.1. whereby the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual, the Board considered that Mr. Liu Xue Heng has in-depth knowledge
and experience in the sports and entertainment related business in the PRC. He is

the most appropriate person.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Board has an non-executive Director, Mr Hu Yebi, who mainly oversees the
Company and its business issues in a broad perspective. Mr. Hu was appointed
as an executive director and chairman on 23 April 2015 and re-designated as a
non-executive Director on 7 November 2018. His current appointment entered
on 7 November 2021 is for a term of 3 years subject to retirement by rotation

and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board currently has four INEDs, one of the INEDs hold appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. All INEDs of the Company have
been appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the
INEDs represented at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the INEDs has given the Company an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all INEDs are independent and meet the independence guidelines set out in

Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution

into the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision C.1.4 on
Directors’ training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development activities by reading regulatory updates, and/or attending seminars/
workshops relevant to the business/Directors’ duties in compliance with code

provision C.| 4.

EREBRE

FHITESE
EEeARFNTEFHTELAE -
HIrZAaBENEMAEEEARAIRAE
EBEE o EER0I5F4A230EE
ERBITESFREF - WH20I18F 11 A7
HRAEAIENTES - BERBE2E®TD
2021611 A7HEIY - FHAR3E - &
BEANRMABERARRERTIRE
BIEBIE o

BYFHTES
EXeRANRBUINTES  Hp
—BEUIFAITESAEELHRANESI0
fRFT5IEE S BEEE R AR M
MBERER - KRR ABEBEILIFNTT
E=REEMH  YARBARRE
BERAUGERTILREEET -EF
GHAR D E ST TR A3 I0A R IF
HTEFEPHEFERE=22—H
ME °

BB IFMTESFDRBE ETHRRIE33
R EMARAIRRFEBLIEHER
£ -ARARE - MEBILIFRTES
BEEIAL - XFE EHRAIES 3K
PRENH BT3RS -

ESrHEEIIRERE
EERSERBEEXERTE UER
I 58 L AN S ARE o U A RER IR F A
BEHEzEEMREMEZERATHE
FEeFLER -

EEHNETEBESHFINTRIE
XECIAG - TAEEZRHERETAE
MXECIAG  BBHEEERENERN
B RRHERER EEZBER
HEE AR en A2 RSEEE
REE

tREEXEXEEGRAR
SEC=FFR

41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREAEE

A record of training they received for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
provided to the Company. All eight directors received training through reading
regulatory updates and attending seminars/workshops relevant to the business/

directors’ duties for the year.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board sets the Group’s objectives and strategies and monitors its
performance. The Board also decides on matters such as annual and interim
results, appointments of company secretary, and dividend and accounting policies
and monitors the internal controls of the Group's business operation. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility of overseeing the Group'’s day to

day operations to management executives.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in accordance with code provision
D.1.2 of the CG Code, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company's performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole

and each Director to discharge their duties.

When the Board delegates aspect of its management and administration
functions to management, clear directions would be given as to the power of
management, in particular, the circumstances where management should report
back to the Board before making decision or entering into any commitments on

behalf of the Group.

Principal functions that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (i) implementation of corporate strategy and policy initiatives;
(ii) provision of management reports to the Board in respect of Group's
performance, financial position and prospects; and (iii) day-to-day management of

the Group.

LIABILITY INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
action against for Directors and officers in compliance with code provision C.|.8.
The insurance coverage is reviewed by the Company on an annual basis. During
the year under review, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of

the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable

objectives set for implementing the policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. All Board appointments will be based on merit and the
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives, taking into account
the Company’s business and needs. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience and skills in support
of good decision making process, business development, strategy of the Group
and succession planning of the Board. Pursuant to the Amendments to corporate
governance requirements, the Company is required to have a board with
different gender by the end of 2024 and will aim to gradually increase in the
number of female board members thereafter. The Board will take opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates for board appointments. The
Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors who have
direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds,
and reflecting the Group's strategy. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and the contribution that the selected candidates may bring

to the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”),
which set out the criteria and process in the appointment and nomination of
directors, in order to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and ensure the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership, and the summary of which is set out

below:

Nomination criteria

Pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirements effective in 2019, the
Company should disclose its policy for nomination of directors in the summary
of work performed by the Nomination Committee in its corporate governance
report. In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship, the

following criteria should be considered:
(i)  character and integrity;
(i) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and

experience, and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are

relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy;

(i) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

(iv)  for independent non-executive directors, whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set

out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms

of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;
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(vi)  willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a

member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

(vii) such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where applicable may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to

time for nomination of directors and succession planning.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established three Board
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and
the Nomination Committee. Independent Non-executive Directors play an
important role in these committees to ensure that independent and objective

views are expressed and to promote critical review and control.

Audit Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, Mr. Xin Luo Lin and Mr. Pan Lihui.
The Audit Committee, chaired by Mr. Lok, is delegated with the authority from
the Board primarily to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements
and provide material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems and audit process of
the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board.
The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 3.21
of Listing Rules. For the attendance of the Directors in the meetings of the Audit
Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Board of Directors” above in

this report.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report:

(i)  reviewed and discussed the annual audited financial statements, results
announcement and report for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the related accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the report from the management on the Company's review of the
risk management and intermnal control systems, and recommendation of the

re-appointment of the external auditor;

(i) reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditor including the nature
and scope of the audit, the fee payable to them, their reporting obligations

and their work plan; and

(i) reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and

internal audit plan.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, a copy of which is posted on the Company's website, are

consistent with the terms set out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee to ensure that there are
formal and transparent procedures for setting policies on the remuneration of
Directors. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, Mr. Xin Luo Lin
and Mr. Pan Lihui. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Lok. For
the attendance of each of the Director in the meetings of the Remuneration
Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Board of Directors” above in

this report.
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During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held to
review the remuneration packages of the Directors and chief executives and
appointment of a new company secretary. The Remuneration Committee is
delegated with authority of the Board to review the remuneration package
of the Directors and ensures that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website, are consistent with the terms set

out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the Board and the senior management by band for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out below:
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee to ensure fair and
transparent procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors to the Board. For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Nomination
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming,
Mr. Xin Luo Lin and Mr. Pan Lihui. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Mr. Pan. For the attendance of each of the Director in the meetings of
the Nomination Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Board of

Directors” above in this report.

During the year, two Nomination Committee meetings were held to review
the structure, size, composition of the Board, review the independence of the
INEDs, review the Board Diversity Policy, discuss re-election of Directors and
appointment of a new company secretary. In selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, the Committee will consider the background,
experience, qualification and suitability of the candidates as well as the Board
Diversity Policy, as the Nomination Committee has been delegated with the
overall responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Board will approve the recommendations based on
the same criteria. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, a copy
of which is posted on the Company's website, are consistent with the terms set

out in the relevant section of the CG Code.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries, all directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

To comply with the code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company has
also adopted written guidelines on no exacting terms than the Model Code as
the code of conduct for securities transactions by relevant employees to regulate
the dealings in the securities of the Company by certain employees of the
Group who are considered to be likely in possession of inside information of the

Company or its securities.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible

assessment of the Group'’s performance, position and prospects.

Management shall provide sufficient explanation and information to the Board as
will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other

information presented before board meeting for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group's
consolidated financial statements and ensuring that the preparation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements is in accordance with the relevant

requirements and applicable standards.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is included in

the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 60 to 68 of this annual report.

The Board will present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment to
annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators
as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory

requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk management and internal controls

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures,
as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations. The Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and an internal
audit function which is carried out by the functional responsible management
of the Group (“Senior Management”). The Board determines the nature and
extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives,
and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and
the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Its improvement is an ongoing process and the Board
maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen the Company’s control
environment and processes. The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.
The Group has formulated and adopted risk management policy in providing
directions in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks. During regular
review and on an annual basis, the Senior Management identifies risks that would
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses
and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk
mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for those risks considered
to be significant. In addition, the Group has engaged Morton Professional Services
Limited (“Morton”) to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
in performing the internal audit functions for the Group. The annual review plan
of the Group covers major activities and material controls including operational,
financial and compliance of the Group's business units. It also covers the Group’s

ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment.
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ERERARSE

A report on the result of risk management and internal control review report
from Morton was provided to the Audit Committee and the Board in March
2024. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed annual
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including but not limited to (i) the general compliances with
the Appendix CI of the Listing Rules, (ii) corporate level controls (such as
the independence, experience, roles and responsibilities of the Board and
composition of each committee as well as management monitoring activities),
(iii) certain operational level controls, and (iv) financial reporting functions. In the
course of internal audit reviews, Morton did not identify high risk internal control
deficiencies while it found out few medium to low risk deficiencies with proposed
recommendations for improvements and corresponding remedial actions to be
taken by management and process owners. The management has taken/will take
certain remedial actions by specific dates. the Board concluded that there are no
material irregularities nor areas of concern that would have significant adverse
impact on the Group's state of affair, and that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate (including the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions) and,
save as discussed in elsewhere in this report, have complied with the CG Code
provisions on risk management and internal control during the year. There was
also no material breach of procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information during the year. The Company regularly
reminds the directors and the relevant staff about due compliance and latest

regulatory updates with the insider information and other relevant regulations.

Further to promote transparency and accountability, the Group implements
a whistleblowing and anti-corruption systems and arrangements. Employees,
suppliers, customers and business partners of the Group can raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, about possible malpractice or improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management, internal control or other matters. Depending on the
then situations, whistleblowers may contact the management, the Chairman, the
CEO and/or the Independent Non-executive Directors, and suitable following-up

actions may be taken.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the remuneration paid/payable to
Moore CPA Limited, the independent auditors of the Company, is set as follows:

EREBRE
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2023

HK$°000

FET

Audit services EZRTS 1,400
Non-audit services IEERZ RS 255
Total HRET 1,655

The non-audit services represent the engagement in connection with the
Group's 2023 interim financial report of the Company. The Audit Committee
had concluded that it is satisfied with the findings of its review of the audit and

non-audit services fees, process and effectiveness, independence and objectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Mr. Kwok Yu Fung (“Mr. Kwok’), is responsible to
the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and the Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the Board is fully apprised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the

induction and professional development of Directors.

Mr. Kwok was appointed as the company secretary and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 27 July 2023. Mr. Kwok is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. During the year,
Mr. Kwok undertook more than |5 hours of relevant professional training to

update his skills and knowledge.
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SREAEE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. They provide an opportunity for
shareholders to better understand the Group’s operation, financial performance,
business strategies and outlook. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen
of the nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit committee
or, in their absence, other members of the respective committees are
available to answer questions at shareholders meetings. To promote effective
communication, the Company maintains a website at www.bsehk.com, where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are posted. The Board,
according to the Listing Rules, will conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by
poll. The results of the Company voting will be announced on the Company's

website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As stipulated in Article 85 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such

requisition.

The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at an AGM or EGM
include a written notice of those proposals being submitted by shareholders,
addressed to the Board at the registered office. The detailed procedures vary
according to whether the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution or a special
resolution, or whether the proposal relates to the election of a person other than
a Director of the Company as a director. The relevant procedures are set out in
the Notice of AGM which accompanies the despatch of this Annual Report to
shareholders and will be included with the notice to shareholders of any future

AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Article 88 of the Articles of Association provides that if a shareholder duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting wishes to propose a person other
than a Director of the Company for election as a Director at the general
meeting, he/she/it shall deposit a written notice to that effect at the principle
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Board.
Such notice should also be signed by the nominated candidate indicating his/her
willingness to be elected. In order to ensure that shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the information of the nominated candidate, such
notice should be given to the Company within seven days after the dispatch of
the notice of AGM of the Company. Details of the shareholders’ right to propose
a person for election as a Director and the related procedures are set out in the
constitutional documents of the Company published on the Stock Exchange’s

website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's Registrar. Enquiries may be directly put to the Board by questions at
an AGM or EGM. Questions on the procedures for convening or putting forward
proposals and other enquiries may also be made to the Board by writing to the
company secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong at Room 101, 5/F,
Greatmany Centre, | || Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at a

general meeting must be taken by poll.
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SREAEE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy for striking a right balance between
rewarding its shareholders by sharing a portion of the profits and meeting
adequate cash reserves for its working capital requirements and future prospects
of the Company. With reasonable but not pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio, the proposed amount of dividends will be made at the discretion of the
Board and will depend on the Company’s operational results, cash flow situation,
financial conditions, capital expenditure requirements, general business conditions
and strategies, future economic environment, statutory and regulatory restrictions
and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The policy will be
reviewed from time to time so as to keep in line with the change of market

conditions and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On | January 2022, the Listing Rules were amended by, among others, adopting
a uniform set of |4 core standards for shareholder protections for issuers
regardless of their place of incorporation set out in Appendix Al to the Listing
Rules. Before the AGM on 16 June 2023, the Board proposed to make certain
amendments to the Articles of Association for the purpose of, among others,
(i) conforming to the said core standards for shareholder protections; and
(i) incorporating certain other housekeeping changes. Accordingly, the Board
proposes to adopt the Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association in

substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Articles of Association.

On 16 June 2023, a special resolution was passed at the AGM to approve the
proposed amendments and the adoption of the Second Amended and Restated
Articles of Association. The amended Avrticles of Association is available on the

respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby
enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and

informed decisions.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance could ensure an
effective distribution of the resources and shareholders' interests. The senior
management will continue endeavors in maintaining, enhancing and increasing the

Group'’s corporate governance level and quality.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board consists of eight Directors,
including three Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director, and four

Independent Non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Xue Heng, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director, the
chairman of the Board, and the chief executive officer with effect from 25
January 2016. Mr. Liu is currently an executive director, joint-chief executive
officer, an authorised representative and a member of Investment and Risk
Management Committee of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
2389). Before joining the Company, he served as an executive director and the
chairman of Investment and Risk Management Committee of Beijing Properties
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 925) during the period from | January 2011 to
23 December 2015. He was also an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Bestway International Holdings Limited (stock code: 718) during the
period from || July 2014 to |9 January 2016, as well as an independent non-
executive director of Guangshen Railway Co., Limited (stock code: 525) during
the period from 2 June 2011 to 29 May 2014 respectively. Mr. Liu obtained a
Master of Business Administration from Cambridge University in the United
Kingdom. He has extensive experience in equity investment, corporate finance,

initial public offer, and mergers and acquisitions.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak, aged 42, was appointed as an Executive Director with effect
from 24 December 2015. Mr. Lam has over 20 years of experience in accounting
and financial matters. Mr. Lam currently served as the chief financial officer, the
company secretary, the authorised representative and the member of investment
and risk management committee of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 2389) and is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial management,
regulatory compliance and investors related matters. Mr. Lam also serves as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, and
the member of the remuneration committee of Net-A-Go Technology Company
Limited (stock code: 1483). Mr. Lam worked as an audit manager at KPMG till
September 2010. He obtained a Bachelor degree in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003 and a Master in Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong in November 2013.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Hou Gongda, aged 40, was appointed as an Executive Director with effect
from 25 February 202 1. Mr. Hou obtained a Bachelor degree in accounting from
Qingdao University in 2007 and a Master degree in Business Administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in 2021. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Hou worked as an audit manager at Emst & Young from 2007
to 2015. Mr. Hou joined the Group in January 2016 and currently serves as a
director of MetaSpace (Beijing) Air Dome Corporation, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which is listed on NEEQ in the People's Republic of
China (Stock Code: 831527).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Hu Yebi, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director on 23 April 2015
before he was redesignated as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 7
November 2018. Mr. Hu is the founder and chairman of Vision Finance Group
Limited. Mr. Hu received his Master of Business Administration from Netherlands
International Institute for Management in the Netherlands and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Management Engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology in
Beijing, the PRC. Mr. Hu has more than 30 years of experience in securities
and financial services, merger and acquisition and corporate finance. Mr. Hu
is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Blue Moon Group
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 6993); (i) Grand Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(Stock code: 512); and (iii) Gemdale Corporation (Stock Code: 600383.5H).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Lok has more than
33 years of experience in public accounting, finance and commercial working
experience in both Sydney and Hong Kong. Mr. Lok received his Master of
Economics — Professional Accounting from Macquarie University, New South
Wales Australia in 1988. He was qualified as an accountant in 1987, and is an
associate member of Hong Kong Society of Accountants and a fellow member of
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He has been the chief executive

officer of CSI Investment Management Limited in Hong Kong since 2001.

Mr. Xin Luo Lin, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Xin was a postgraduate from the
Peking University in the PRC in 1980. He was a visiting scholar at the Waseda
University, Japan between 1980 and 1983, an honorary research associate at
the University of British Columbia, Canada during 1983 and 1984, and a visiting
fellow at the Australia National University, Australia from 1984 to 1985. He was
appointed as a Justice of the Peace in New South Wales of Australia in 1991.
He was appointed as an adviser to the chairman of Guangdong Capital Holdings
Limited from 1998 to 2000. He is an independent investor with over 24 years
of experience in investment banking in the PRC, Hong Kong and Australia. Mr.
Xin is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Sinolink Worldwide
Holdings Limited (stock code: I168); and (ii) Central China Real Estate Limited
(stock code: 832).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

58 ANNUAL-REPORT 2023

BUFHTES

LEBREE 635 0 B2015F4H23H
REZRTRBEIENITES - LE4ETE
BERBBHREBIDBFHLLS - B
BREETIERLR - £ ERI1988FH
15 /8 M %7 7 2k B 1= Macquarie University &
XS AEEERBEL - BRI987TFEME
BEAER  WABEEMAEEE
KBRMNFTETMEEEREE - K
200 FRETEREEHRKREEERAR
PR ZITIRABEL ©

FEMESE - 745% - B20I5F4H23F
BEZERBIUFHTES - FEAR
1980 F AR Bt R KB ELE - BR
1980F = 1983 F M A B AN FE A KEH
FE2E  RISIFEI4FREMERXR
THEFmLERABLZENEES - WK
1984 4F 2= 985 4F ] 1 8 A F) 28 B 37 K 22
FEERIFTE o HR 1991 F IR AR
MR 2 KTt o BHI998FE
000FBZTAESSRIZRERAF
TR2EM  HABUKRESE  RFP
- BB NORMNER 824 F R ERTT
WRER o AT (VAT EERARA
A (IRMAARER - 1168) + R(NEFEMER
MBERAB*(RMHRSR : 832) 2B IE
WMITES ©

*EHES



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Pan Lihui, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor degree in
International Economics from Beijing University of International Relations in the
PRC in 1989. He has over 28 years of experience in nonferrous metals industry.
Mr. Pan worked in Mind Honour Limited from 1994 to 1998 as a manager.
Mr. Pan founded Pentart Industrial Limited in 1998 and Able Plus International
Limited in 2001 and has since been a director and general manager of these
two companies. Mr. Pan is currently the executive director of Enviro Energy

International Holdings Limited (Stock code: |102).

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from 25 January 2016. Mr. Tse is the executive
director and chief financial officer of China Technology Industry Group Limited
(stock code: 8111). He also serves as an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
2389). Mr. Tse has around 25 years of working experience in accounting and
financial management. He worked in a number of international accountant firms
and Fosun International Limited (stock code: 656) as a qualified accountant. Mr.
Tse is a fellow of CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor degree in commerce
from University of Wollongong, New South Wales, Australia in July 1997,

majoring in accountancy and finance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

' &| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEIJING SPORTS AND
ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group™) set out on pages 69 to 216, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 3|1 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY %A R E

HREZEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were BREZEERNESNERHES
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the BERARRZREVBERRTREZY
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the BIH EENERERBERSVBHREKB
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, BHAREHEZEMMLEEKER ' m

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HRREZER

TEREEEREFRRER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMELBERERSE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

BEEA W R

(Refer to Notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the financial statements)
(2B R HTEE24 - 3]5)

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group recognised
revenue from provision of construction services over time
amounting to HK$29,114,000.

BE2BFNANALEE - ESEEEEBERREHEZS
ARG U229, 114,000/ 7T ©

The Group has recognised revenue from the provision of
construction services over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service.
ERECERERRRMEERBO G - KRB AL
EXEENRBHEE

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on

construction contracts included:

EEEMHRES NN EERNEF 2 -

. Obtained an understanding of and evaluated
management’s process in estimation of the budget
cost and determination of the completion status of the
construction contracts;

c TEMHMEEERBERGARERAREEZESYD
SEAERTT E AR ¢

. Checked key contracts of the Group for agreed

contract amount;

- DmEMNANEERE SEESENHERSH

ERBE L EREWERA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMEHARERER

Revenue recognition on construction contracts (Cont'd)

BEE K W R ()

The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the construction services. This involves the use
of management judgements and estimation uncertainty, including
estimating the progress towards completion of the services,
scope of deliveries and services required and total contract costs
incurred, forecasting the costs to complete a contract.
BAZRBEREENORAEARNERRERGOGTE
PR B LE I RE SR MR 2R o b0 I M8 P 3R I M M % Ak At T B
EE - BREMGEFERRBHEER - AHEXN RREHEE
AR BEENBEKRA ~ FBRIZEK A AIRIRA

We identified the revenue recognition on construction contracts
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and its involvement of management’s
signifcant accounting estimations and judgements.

EREESONNAERIN AERERZER TJEEEA
Eﬂiﬁ/\ﬁﬁ“iﬁ%ﬁﬂ BEX B NEEENEES:
flt M A o

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

Checked the contract costs incurred during the year
and examining the related supporting evidences on a

sample basis; and
BEFAEENSHKRA - L MERBEKEZERM
HoR

Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated total
contracts costs by assessing the status of completion of
the respective construction contracts, and comparing
the actual costs incurred against management'’s
estimation and the profit margin of other similar
projects, on a sample basis.
BRHEBRESHNNTNER - UKE m%“iﬂﬁ
PRAEETE At R A RLIE B WAERE
AR E - SHE A KA ATV RIRIE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY %A R E

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMEHARERER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

ERFIRR &K EER B EEFL

(Refer to Notes 2.4, 3, 19 and 20 to the financial statements)
(2BB R MTEE24 - 3~ 19K%20)

As at 3| December 2023, the Group had trade receivables and
contract assets, net of allowance for credit loss of approximately
HKS 11,717,000 and HK$29,704,000 as disclosed in Notes 20
and |9 respectively. A provision for expected credit losses of
approximately HK$5,905,000 and HK$ 1,153,000 were recognised
for trade receivables and contract assets respectively during the
year as disclosed in Note 6.

M2023F 128318 - M E20R 9D FIKE - &
SEHNREEERBEBNRUFELRENEED HIRK
11,717,0007 7T }.29,704,000/8 7T ° M ANHI L6 P TR - F
NERERRIBERANEERAFEREEBEREED HIK
5.905,00077C & 1,153,000/ 7T ©

For trade receivables and contract assets which are individually
significant and credit-impaired, management assesses credit losses
individually by estimating the contractual cash flows expected to
receive, based on the evidence of credit-impairment and forward-

looking information.

HRENBEAREEREZEBREKBAREGHNEEMNS @ &1
BREEEREZBERAEEEN  BRMATREASKE

MENRESREEETHEEEA -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of

trade receivables and contract assets included:

EFERMBRUGIAN A WEERBENMANERF B
. Obtained an understanding of management’s process

for credit risk assessment and impairment assessment
of allowance for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets,

« THREEBETEERREIEREFIEREL
BENAREEERREETRENLOIER

c For trade receivables and contract assets individually
assessed for the ECL, reviewed the impairment
assessment and assessed the reasonableness of the
allowance determined by the management based on
and the customer’s historical payment rate and the
estimated future cash flows on a sample basis;

« BERFHARMEEBRNEUGARANEEM
5 RETFPHNEL MR RAFRKESRE
WMERERG - LA HEREMETRENSRE

I
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMEHARERER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets (Cont'd)

FEWIR R &I B ER R BT (&)

For trade receivables and contract assets which are not individually
significant and credit-impaired, management uses provision
matrix to assess the ECL, which is based on collective credit risk
characteristics. The provision rates are based on the Groups
historical credit loss rate and are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking factors. The impairment provision is subject to
the managements significant estimation.
AERTBEAREEREZEBRKEREGHNEEMS -
EEEREBERAEERARERERABRERETEENEE
BiE - BEXRNRE SREELESEFREXRFE AL
BRI E AT R ATIEEE = - REBRBBURANE TR E
HEE AR

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and its involvement of
management’s significant accounting estimations and judgements.
BEERERFAERANEENRENHENSBRERSE
B THRESGAVMBRAMEBEZA S LEEREN
BAGFHhET R FIE -

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

For trade receivables and contract assets assessed
by a provision matrix based on collective credit risk
characteristics for ECL, assessed the reasonableness
of the provision rate by the management (including
historical credit loss rates and forward-looking factors)
and checked the appropriateness of classification in the
provision matrix on a sample; and

SERHBEERRSEERREERTEIERE
EEENRUFTERANEEMNS @ BFHEER
BRGNS BT (BRELEEBEENA
EMREE) WM EERE R EEREPH SRR

BEE Rk

Assessed the disclosures to the financial statement
relating to the Group’s exposure to credit risks.
AEIHRET AR EEEMEBREERRAEK
BmAK -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,

other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditors report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Groups ability to continue as a going concemn,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Groups financial reporting

process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Groups intemal control.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concemn
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Groups ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan King Keung
Practising Certificate Number: PO6057

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

LN
Foreign
Share currency Statutory  Share-based Non-
Share premium Coptd ~ translation and legd payment Farvaue  Accumulated controling Total
capital account reserve reserve resenve reserve reserve losses Totd interests equity
IWEihA
bl HER RO
BE REER  ATEE B AERR B OAERR  ZHER &t ERER R
(Note 26) (Note30(@) ~ (Note30(5)) ~ (Note30(c) ~ (Note30(d))  (Note30(e))
Gigal) (Wibw)  (fbop)  (H0g) (Ko@) (H0e)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEL TEL TRL TEL TEL TRL TRL TEL TETL TRL TRL
At | January 2012 RnEIAIR 7040 567437 (7337) (934) 5940 7441 00 (299.867) 281128 81,605 362733
Loss orthe year EhER - - - - - - - (66628) (6668 Q&) (@8319)
Other comprehensive income/ Wﬂﬁfﬂﬁ@%/
(loss) for the year (%)
Changes in farvalue of MBRERER
debt investments at far 2l EH
value through other REZARERS:
comprehensive income, net M5
oftax - - - - - - (%003) - (6.03) - (0003)
Reclassification adjustments iR BlRY
of debt investments at RABRBREL
fir value through other 2EE 2 BH
comprehensive income for RE(EERAR
losses included n proft or B8 fEE
loss, net of tax = - = = - = 6,408 = 6408 = 6:408
Redlassfication of foreign N EBINERE
areny tanation resene. ERABIERS
upon disposal of foreign #E
operations - - - (405) = - - - (19) . )
Reclssfication of capita MEEB SRS
reserve, statutory and legal GEOS1-R
reserve upon disposal of EERAERR
foreign operations - - 3 - (2479) - - 2476 - - -
Exchange differences on ERAEENZH
trandlation of foreign EizE
operations - - - (13257) - - - - (13257) (8327) (21,589
Total comprehensie incomel ~~ ERZTENE/ (E1)
(loss) for the year i = = 3 (13682) 24719 = (2615) (64152) (82915) (30018 (112983)
Transactions with ovners HEEALRS
Disposal o a subsidary (Note) i E—FIHEB AR
(HiE) - - 175 - - - - - 17 (173 .
Share options apsed BRERH - - - - - (1) - 755 . - _
Contribution from NCI FARERTE = - - - - - - - - il il
At 3] December 2022 NOEIA3IA 1040 S67437% (7159 (3028 3061 16,686* (Q3%5F (363264 198378 51209 155607

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company disposed of 40% equity
interests in a subsidiary to a third party at a cash consideration of HK$ . Such disposal is
accounted for as a partial disposal of subsidiary without loss of control and as an equity
transaction. The difference of HK$ 175,000 between the fair value of the consideration
and the increase in carrying amount of the non-controlling interests has been recognised

directly in equity under the capital reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange") since |6 January 2012. The address
of its registered office has been changed to Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY -1 111, Cayman lIslands effective from
3 November 2023. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is Room 101, 5/F, Greatmany Centre, | || Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sports
and entertainment related industry in the People's Republic of China (the

“PRC") with focus on air dome construction, operation and management.

In the opinion of the Directors, the major shareholder of the Company is
Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited which was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont'd) . QAFRREEERE)
Information about subsidiaries (Cont'd) ERNME AR ZER (&)
Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued capital/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
MR/ BRAIRE/ ARF
£ AR &R ERmER ELRERDL IEEH
2023 2022
Zhejiang Yuedun Zhizao Technology Limited* the PRC RMB45,000,000 51.66*@ 51.66%  Processing of materials for air
(“Yuedun Zhizao") (indirect) (indirect)  dome construction
MIOBREERRERAR((WEEE])  PH ABH450000007C (B#) (B&E) REREOIHNT
Jiin Xinghua Huji Nano Technology Co, Ltd. the PRC RMB10,000,000 3060 30.60"  Manufacturing and sale of
(“Jiin Xinghua'")* (indirect) (indirect)  white pigment powder
EMEZEEARANBARAR(EHEE]) PE AEH100000007T (B#) (M) RERRRAGEMD
& For identification purpose only > ELEE ol

These are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

e These are registered as domestic enterprises with limited liability under PRC law.

“ These are held by non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and,
accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company's control

over them.

Jilin Xinghua was incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2022. Its
51% equity interest was indirectly held by the Company through a 60% owned
subsidiary and it was accounted for as subsidiary by virtue of the Company's

control over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of the
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of the excessive length.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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2.1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“"HKASs™) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") and bills receivables at FVOCI, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except

when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 3| December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over
the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the current ability to

direct the relevant activities of the investee).

2.1

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Groups voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such

control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.
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2.1

2.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income/(loss)
is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 3| December 2023, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time, which are mandatorily effective

for the annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and Insurance Contracts
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)
BB RELERIE 1757
(B452020%F 10 A }&20224F2 A &Y
BBV BHmEERE I 75RNERT)
Amendment to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
BB GTERE 15 NEFEMB
HEER BB HAE2RAER]
Amendments to HKAS 8
EB T ERE8HRMIERT
Amendments to HKAS 12
R GETERIE 1 25RHER]
Amendments to HKAS 12
BB GTERE 1 25REET

=N

BAT IR E

BT 1Ga 2 EE

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1

22

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
HE—XGELZ EERRIEHBIELZNE
Intemational Tax Reform — Pillar Two model Rules

BB B2 — 2 — STIFIEEHR R

BRI XFrESN  RAFERAE
BT IRE R B FTH AR B AR
FERBEFE2MBRRLEKE
&/ REENZERAMBERRL
RELEBEXNEATE -

EtREEXEXEERRAR 83



84

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Cont’d)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS | Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if. when considered together with other information included in an entity's
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. The amendments also clarify that
accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an
entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such

information must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”") is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial

statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance but has affected the disclosure
of the Group's accounting policies set out in Note 2. In accordance with
the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting policy information
that is standardised information, or information that only duplicates or
summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the material
accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

BEMBHRELERNE 05 BB ST ER
22855 (201 1 ) OB RT

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BEMBRELERNE | 5RHERT

Amendments to HKAS |

BRERERF IRAEFT

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BREETR LB BN BRE =R
ETRAIERT

Amendments to HKAS 2|

BB REREL RER]

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

EEREE (20209F)

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025.

The above new and amendments to existing standards do not expect
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group. The Group will adopt the new and amended HKFRSs to existing

standards when they become effective.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024.

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 A B o

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

REZHEBENAHE EPR AL EXTARE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

EREEFHHEER T

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

REDEBRE IR REERFEE S (2020F ) BRI

Supplier Finance Arrangement!

BEBHEZ

Lack of Exchangeability*
RS A #E
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan

that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause'
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the

investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the

equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investment in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's investment

in associates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquirees identifiable net assets. Al
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that

together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation

of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain

or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Business combinations and goodwill (Cont’d)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group'’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 3|1 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group

are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of

the cash-generating unit retained.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

24

EREBEREN(E)
ERasREEMAE)
BERVIRKAE - IR EER
B ERERSHEBRES LKL
AR WS 7T A B R 2
RERRE  BEMmEER#EEE
FEMPAZERENER - MibR
BN E A IR B 2 MK P s 2
BEFENANE  REMGRRER
ZRRRBREAER SRERBE R

o

B

R HERE - B RKAREMR
ZEREEEE  c BESFET
BERA - AR HIRERIEHKIE
ot BN BEUR BR TH B A RE R (B B Bl BB
SEEHEIT R c NEBERI2A3]
HETFEEmEBRENR - BLRE
ARHME - BEBHEHMEENE
ZaERBRSEEREABS
HOBRBEPESNAEESIR
CELBENRSHSELSEMNA
Al MAmASEEEMEESBE
BEREBREZEEMNKEMNESR -

RERBEBENHESELEVR
wEAEMAR) AT EKERR G
BRET - WHREELBEU(REE
A EEAAR R ) &Y AT B SR ER A BRI
B8 RIRERRERE - BEERER
FIRERIE N R AR R BT

HEBEDEEREEABM (IR
wELEMAR) - QB %
BHER  BELEKAHENEE
REt AXBERRENETEHERK
BE - RZERAELNEE - &
EHEBRRENESEE B
DHEEEESELEFE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its debt investments at FVOCI, financial assets at
FVPL and bills receivables at FVOCI at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic

best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participants ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the

use of unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Fair value measurement (Cont’d)

All'assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level | —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities
Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or

indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the assets recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the assets or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which

it arises.
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or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or

of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third

party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity;
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d) 24 BEEHBEERE)
Related parties (Cont'd) BER (E)
(b)  (Contd) b) (&)
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit v) ZEBRAEENER
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the SEEEENEBHME
Group; EREEavA: L3 E
METE
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person Vi) EBEBXQ@WNATHAAL
identified in (a); 2| SR FL R
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) (@) WFﬁEﬁ%EUAi%‘T%
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the BEBEAXENIBEZ
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and ER(IZEBNER
ADNEREEEKE
54
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (i) B - S —HEENE
provides key management personnel services to the Group or KB AR (ZERRE
to the parent of the Group. V—ED ) [MAE RS
AEBOFRAREMRE
ZEBABRR
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation W BERREARFTE
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are W% - BB RFEE(EREIRRIN)
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. TR AR R T 4T & AT DRUE &
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its BAR -9%  BEARXKEEER
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its KABEBEBREMNKEEES
working condition and location for its intended use. AI R AR AR B X B R i B (4%

EREMERELRKA

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have ME - WENRREBEBEERESE
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally Wit - IEEBREE - —RRE
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations HHI B BT kR o WEDIHER
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a FE - AlEARERNAZENE
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a ERAERENAERE® - WA
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are EHEBRARESYE  BE KK
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as B AAEESHEZEALERE
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. B E Al A F B9 Bl & A= 30 AR

REEHRITE -
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and useful terms

10% to 33%

20% to 33%

3% to 33%

Computer equipment 20%

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and

equipment when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to earmn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
the investment properties to their residual value over their estimated useful
life.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or

disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial

year end.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Cont’d)

Patents and trademarks

Purchased patents and trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful

lives of 3.7 years.

Software
Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 3 to 5

years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use

assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(@

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 20 years
Land use rights 50 years
Buildings 3 to 20 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(b)

(©

Lease liabilities (Cont'd)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g, a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of buildings (that is those leases that have a lease
term of |2 months or less from the commencement date and do

not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease

or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which

they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable
at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The finance income
on the net investment in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to

provide a constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as measured subsequently

at amortised cost, at FVOC! or at FVPL

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial assets contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
FVPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS

|5 in accordance with the policies set out for Revenue recognition below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or FVOC, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and

measured at FVPL, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets
classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at FVOCI are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within

the aforementioned business models are classified and measured at FVPL.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established

by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statement of financial position at

fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at FVPL are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed

from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group

has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group

could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit

enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a |12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-

looking information.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont'd)

For debt investments at FVOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the
debt investments are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are past

due or the rating of bonds is decreased.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d) 24 BEEHBEERE)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d) RERHMWESREE(F)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d) ZHEERE (&)

General approach (Cont'd) —RE (&)

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised cost are ARERBENEM K S 2 B
subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified KERBRBHEARIEZ 2/ E
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade ZE - EA—MRIERRAE - Wi
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach as ATHERETHEUERBES
detailed below. )E_ETE - MR A 2 FEIERIA

BHRVEE N T X PrEH BRI ©

Stage | —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly EIBR — BUSEANRAGERRL
since initial recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an mBEEN  BEEBREEDR
amount equal to 12-month ECLs HBER 12 AEBEEEHERN

TRENERTIA

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since FER — BUNSBRAUREEERRE
initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for ERMELEEERESR
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs BE) AEEREBENRAS

REERRREEFRNEE
SFEMERBTA

Stage3  —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that FIER — REEAHEEEEREME
are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss WHBEASRECERE) -
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs EERREDNEESENFESR
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group individually assesses
credit losses for those individually significant, or with serious default
indicators and credit-impaired and uses a provision matrix to assess credit
losses for the remaining. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as

described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at

FVPL, loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction

costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in

finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is

discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in

profit or loss.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the specific identification basis and, in the case of work
in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to

completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to

use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage

of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,

either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Income tax (Cont’d)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,

except:

0 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax

losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable

profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be

utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be

settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are

attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS |2 requirements to the
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable

temporary differences.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that

the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services

that are substantially the same.

(a)  Provision of air dome construction services
The Group assesses a contract at contract inception, identifies each
individual performance obligation included in the contract, and
determines whether the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time or the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a
point in time. Revenue is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance
obligation if one of the following criteria is met: (1) the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group's performance as the Group performs; (2) the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or (3) the Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(@

Provision of air dome construction services (Cont'd)

The construction services provided by the Group are being
considered by the management as one single performance obligation,
the equipment involved and construction services are highly
interdependent and highly interrelated, and is satisfied over time or

at the point in time as construction services are rendered.

For those revenue from provision of construction services which
is recognised over time, an input method is used to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the construction service.
The input method recognises revenue on the basis of the Group's
actual efforts or inputs incurred to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation. When the Group is not
able to reasonably measure its performance progress, the Group
recognises revenue only to the extent of the recoverable amount
of costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure the

performance progress.

For those revenue from provision of construction services that
the performance obligation is not satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised at the point in time when the customer obtains control

of the distinct goods or services.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(@

(b)

(©

Provision of air dome construction services (Cont'd)

The Group provides warranties in accordance with the contracts
in connection with the construction services during the warranty
period in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant
contracts, normally one to two years from the date of completion
of respective contracts. The warranties provide the customers with
assurance that the related constructed air domes will function as the
parties intended because it complies with agreed-upon specifications
and does not provide extended warranties in its contracts with
customers. As such, the existing warranties are assurance-type
warranties under HKFRS |5, which the Group accounts for under

HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Rendering of operation and management services and other sports and
entertainment services

Revenue from the rendering of operation and management services
and other sports and entertainment services is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group. Revenue from other services, such as repairing and
supportive services, is recognised at the point in time as services are

rendered.

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and the payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally

required.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter

period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the

dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by transferring
goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies for

impairment of financial assets.

24

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

EREBEREN(E)

W s TR (AF)

Bt A

M & W AT TH B A 12 B ] L o) o
o WIFENIEHEF Ry a] 24
ENFRBEENSHHIRER R
A o

FEBRA T EBRABRITRNE
BT AL T8 HA R HA (SR BUE EARS - il
BB B H R RS E SR E
EEmMFENNE  UEERFEX
REBTHEE®R -

P B A T A B SR MBI A 3R 2 #E A
FES - B SAARE 2 B M as R A
EEERANKEBRE S FEENA
SEHFTERER ©

J."é‘?
i
o

VEETWEIR R R E P rE%
& ARAFE B ZHER o AR5

BREP AR EATRR TR
AR EmIREEE TEPM
49 - RIS LATRRE 2 B R IFRE
REMEE - aNEERETR
B EFBERNEREERE
BB ETBURS ©

n

me 10> o)
E

i
W@ED

|

B

ﬁ%%ﬂ]

EtREEXEXEERRAR

117



118

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Contract assets (Cont'd)

The Group's certain construction contracts include payment schedules
which require stage payments over the construction period once
certain specified milestones are reached. In addition, the Group requires
certain customers to provide upfront deposits or advance payments for
construction works, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds
the amount received. A contract asset, net of contract liability related to
the same contract, is recognised over the period in which the construction
services are performed representing the Group's right to consideration for
the services performed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's
future performance in achieving specified milestones. The contract assets
are transferred to trade debtors when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the

completed construction works from the customer.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the

related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments

(equity-settled transactions).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Share-based payments (Cont’d)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial

model, further details of which are given in Note 29.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or

performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Share-based payments (Cont’d)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the

date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a

modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share

dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the MPF Scheme) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those eligible Hong Kong
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest

fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Other employee benefits (Cont’d)

Pension scheme (Cont’d)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentages of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become

payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination

benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in

the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are

recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries and associates operating in
Mainland China are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their profit or loss is translated into Hong

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income

relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and

translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions conceming the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group assesses a contract at contract inception, identifies each
individual performance obligation included in the contract, and determines
whether the Group satisfies the performance obligation over time or the

Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time.

The construction services provided by the Group are being considered
by the management as one single performance obligation, the equipment
involved and construction services are highly interdependent and
highly interrelated, and is satisfied over time or at the point in time as

construction services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

For those revenue from provision of construction services which is
recognised over time because the Group's performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, an input
method is used to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the

construction service.

Significant judgements are required in determining whether the
construction services provided by the Group should be treated as
one single performance obligation and the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation at the reporting date.

The management makes reasonable estimates on the expected total
contract revenue and total contract costs based on the budgets prepared
for construction operations to determine the performance progress and
identify onerous contracts. When it is probable that total contract costs
will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately. Due to the nature of activities associated with
construction, the Group has to continuously review and revise budget
prepared for each construction operation throughout the contract period.
Revision may have effect on revenue, profit and other items related to

construction operations during the period when the revision incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (I) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the value in use including cash flow projections with appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the percentage change in revenue growth and gross
profit margins in the cash flow projections, could affect the recoverable
amount. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets were HK$92,346,000
and HK$29,383,000, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss of HK$65,712,000 and HK$22,141,000 respectively (2022: property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets were HK$93,919,000 and
HK$33,012,000, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss

of HK$73,646,000 and HK$27,955,000 respectively).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets
(Contd)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
the right-of-use assets have been determined by the management of
the Group by value in use calculation of the CGU to which these assets
belong. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. During the year ended 3| December 2023, impairment losses
of approximately HK$ 147,000 and HK$2,768,000 (2022: HK$3,460,000
and HK$1,093,000) have been recognised related to property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in the profit or loss during the year,

respectively. Further details are given in Notes 12 and 14(a).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract
assets

As at 3| December 2023, the Group had trade receivables and contract

assets, net of allowance for credit loss of approximately HK$ 11,717,000
and HK$29,704,000.

For trade receivables and contract assets which are individually significant or
credit-impaired, the Group's management assesses credit losses individually
by estimating the contractual cash flows expected to receive, based on the
evidence of credit-impairment and forward-looking information. Except for
trade receivables and contract assets which are individually significant and
credit-impaired, the Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets which is based on collective credit
risk characteristics. The provision rates are based on the Group's historical

loss rates, taking into consideration forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract
assets (Cont’d)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e.,, gross domestic product) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group's trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in Notes 20

and 19, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group would have to pay, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit

rating).

Provision of ECLs for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial
assets at FVOCI is an area that requires the use of significant assumptions,
including but not limited to determining criteria for significant increase
in credit risk, choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the
measurement of ECLs and taking future economic conditions and the

creditors behaviour into account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences would impact the current income tax and deferred income tax

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management estimation is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. No deferred tax asset relating to recognised tax
losses was recognised as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 3| December 2023 was HK$235,668,000 (2022:
HK$175,796,000). Further details are contained in Note 21.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
information reviewed by the executive directors for the purposes of

allocating resources and assessing performance.

During the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022, the Group
principally operates in one business segment, which is sports and
entertainment segment engaging in air dome construction, operation and
management and other peripheral services such as sports industry related
consultation and management services. Other businesses were considered

relatively insignificant for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.

Geographical information

(a)  Revenue from external customers

g0 EER

EEECREANTEZT/ERIR
MRS M FH A ERHEERL S

Sz

HE2023F %202F 12831 B IEE
B AEEXELE —EAEBIR
B BB B IRGIRIE - L ERIER
B HEBEREENAREMEZER
BNBETHXEAEZAREER
1) o REIZE2023F K202 12 A3
HIEFE - AthEBERREEM
TEE

HEER
(a) BEF Yz

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Mainland China AR D 62,388 61214
Other Asian countries H i an MR - 7,357
62,388 68,57

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

(b)  Non-current assets
All of the Group's non-current assets (excluding debt investments at
FVOCI, certain financial assets at FVPL and deferred tax assets) are

located in Mainland China, in which all of its revenue was derived.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES . W HthWARKEREE

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WS AT -

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Revenue from contracts with customers REBREAHZ W 62,388 68,571

TREELEXEEERDR
:S:Eigiﬁ 1 33




33,274
29,114

62,388




Amounts expected to be recognised as  TEHASHER A=Y
revenue: S
Within one year —FRX

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include

variable consideration which is constrained.

2,428 15,429

SRENRBOE TR HE
SRR — RS
Wk o FREEN ST O
SR ATRAME -

tREEMLEXRREFRAF
“EC=FEH
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17,353













Mr. Liu Xue Heng* Bl 180 392 88 660

Mr. Lam Ka Tak MEEEE 180 - - 180

Mr. Hou Gongda EILERSE 195 508 2 725
555 900 |10 1,565

Non-executive director FHTES

Mr. Hu Yebi HHERE 180 - - 180
735 900 [10 [,745

& Mr. Liu Xue Heng is also the chief executive officer of the Company. & B2 EEENRRNARIT

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: nil).

AEE TEEEXEBTHRAER
R EE ok B B AR B AT {A) B BN A 2 Bk
(2022%F : 4E) -

LREE L EEEEARA
—e-—=zx5 141



Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T % 1,000,000/ 7T
HK$ 1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7L £ 1,500,000

BT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022:

16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year, except for the Company which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2022:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of the Company are taxed at 8.25%
(2022: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%).

The Group's operations in Mainland China are subject to the PRC
corporate income tax (“CIT”). The standard PRC CIT rate is 25% (2022:
25%).

Two (2022: two) PRC subsidiaries, MetaSpace and Yuedun Zhizao were
accredited as High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE") and entitled
to a preferential tax rate of 15% (2022: 15%) for the years ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022. The HNTE certificate needs to be renewed

every three years so as to enable to enjoy the preferential tax rate.

Certain PRC subsidiaries were qualified as Small-scaled Minimal Profit
Enterprise, and accordingly their CIT are calculated on a deemed profit
margin. The first RMBI million of annual taxable income is eligible for 75%
reduction and the income between RMBI million and RMB3 million is
eligible for 50% reduction at the applicable EIT tax rate of 20% for both

years.
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Total tax charge/(credit) for the year
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(12,969) (47,939)

(2,140) (11,985)

3,562

(80)

(60,908)

(14,125)

3,624

(80)
(436)

(698)
1,711

(427)

14,625
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Cont’d)

10.

10. FREBM(ER) (&)

Hong Kong  Mainland China Total
50 Hh B K B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THETT THETT
2022 20224
Loss before tax RO (7,599) (81,402) (89,001)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMEFE IR (1,254) (20,350) (21,604)
Effect of preferential tax rates of MBARIBER R ZE
subsidiaries = 3,930 3,930
Adjustment in respect of current tax of 81 HARE BIEATH 18 & F9 &
previous periods = (5/492) (5,492)
Income not subject to tax BREZHIA (177) - (177)
Additional tax reduction for eligible B EBHERZ 2RI
research and development expenses  F B = (757) (757)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT 1,055 54 [,109
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised  &h /8 i@ 1 HAR AR AERR 2 Bt
in previous periods HER (346) 24) (370)
Tax losses and deductible temporary — RIEFR Z FHIEEE KA HI
different not recognised R R 3919 18,760 22,679
Total tax credit for the year FARIBE R AR 3,197 (3,879) (682)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE [l. EATBEEANELEESREE

COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,408,019,000 (2022: 1,408,019,000) in issue during

the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share presented for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 in respect of a dilution as

the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on

the basic loss per share presented.
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66,902

(10426)

56,476

56476

(4949

(107)

50524

65,641

(I5,117)

50524

19,173

(5.807)

13,366

13,366
8l

(1,602)

(25)

11,593

18,689

(710%)

11,593

604

(399)

205

n

5481

(25%)

2,885

5,855

(3097

1758

738

(503)

143

988

(54)

93919

(0273)

73646
047
(67)
(1)
(7.40)
(1)
(1410)

65,712

92,346

(26634
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd) 12. % - BERSKEE)
Leasehold Fumiture Officc ~ Computer Motor ~ Construction
Buldings improvements  andfitures  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BY HERE GAREE BORE  ERER g RRIR &
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TAL TAL THL TAL THL TAL TAL THL
At | January 2022: RONFIRIA:
Cost s 71,188 21,088 660 5054 827 1077 183 101,077
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZFFTERAIE
impainent (5.303) (3581) (368) (1.966) (484) (463) - (12,165)
Net carrying amount B HE 66,85 17507 ) 3088 3 614 183 88912
At | January 2022, net of ROnFIRIA:
accumulated depreciation and N ZERAE
impaiment 66,885 17507 9 3088 BZ3) 614 183 88912
Additions hE = = = 963 9 = 042 2014
Transfer 85 1,183 = = - - (1183) -
Disposals e - - - ) - - )
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 32) it EMBAR(MfzE32) - - - 0 - - - 2
Depreciation (note 6) e (Hte) (2979) (1907) (68) (836) (80) (1) - (599)
Impaiment (note ¢) (Ko (2768) 69 - - - - (3460)
Exchange realignment ERAE (5845) (1542) (19 (328) (32) (46) 9 (7821)
At 31 December 2022, net of RONENA3IA -
accumulated depreciation and HEEEEIEY
impainent 56476 13366 205 2885 135 446 3 73646
At 31 Decerber 2022 R00EA3IR
Cost KA 66902 19173 604 5481 738 988 3 93919
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZFHHTERAHE
impainment (10426) (5807) (3%9) (25%) (503) (542) - (20273)
Net carying amount KEFE 56476 13366 205 2885 235 446 3 73646

At 31 December 2023, the Group's right-of-use assets (note 14) and
buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$19,651,000 and
HK$50,524,000 respectively (2022: HK$20,497,000 and HK$56,476,000 ,
respectively) were pledged to secure bank loans of the Group (note 27).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

In view of recent poor financial performance of the Group, the
management carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets containing in the air
dome construction CGU (the "Air CGU") and White Pigment Powder
Manufacturing CGU (the “WPP CGU").

The recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined by value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is | 1.12% for 31 December 2023.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year
period is 2.2 % for 31 December 2023, which is same as the expected

long-term inflation rate.

A provision for impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$ 147,000 and HK$2,768,000
separately recorded in “Other expenses and losses” associated with the

WPP CGU.

The value-in-use for the Air CGU was assessed by an independent qualified

external valuer, BonVision International Appraisals Limited.

The impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets which were allocated to the CGU for the year ended 31
December 2022, were included in the value-in-use calculation as disclosed

in note |5 of the consolidated financial statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Cont’d)

The key assumption for the value in use calculations

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the air dome
construction CGU and WPP CGU for 3| December 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash

flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined budgeted gross
margins based on past performance and its expectations for market

development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are after tax and reflect specific

risks relating to the relevant unit.

Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the financial budget periods are based on the expected long-term

inflation rate.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of air
dome construction, discount rates and growth rates are consistent with

external information sources.
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The Group's investment properties consist of a leasehold land and building
of an air dome stadium in Mainland China under a lease terms of 20 years.
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to five
years and rentals payable monthly/quarterly/yearly. Majority of the lease
are fixed over the lease terms and one (2022: one) of the leases contain
variable lease payment that are based on certain percentage of revenue of
tenant's operation and minimum annual lease payment that are fixed over

the lease term.

17,842
(1,079)
(336)

16,427

AEBENKEMERFEHEL R
—EEH A RZEN RRSEE
THEAR20%F - REVERELSEHA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of the subsidiary. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end

of lease term.

Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$2,296,000
(2022: HK$2,163,000), details of which are included in Note 5.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties was approximately HK$19,800,000 (2022: HK$21,299,000),
assessed by an independent qualified external valuer, as at 31 December
2023.

The fair value measurements of the Group'’s investment properties are
categorised within Level 3. The valuation technique is the income approach
and the significant inputs used in the fair value measurement are the

estimated rental value, rental growth rate, vacancy rate and discount rate.

The minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties

is disclosed in Note [4.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings and land
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owner with a lease period of 50 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the term of this land lease. Leases of

buildings and land generally have lease terms of 3 to 20 years.
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20,497

(467)

(379)

7,458
83

(2,883)

(2.768)
(130)

27,955
813
(3,350)
(2,768)
(509)

22,141




13,054
813

996

(16)
(5,355)

(389)




LB EEEEERAS
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Within one year —FNRN

After one year but within two years —FRERRERN
After two years but within three years MERBER=FA
After three years but within four years =FREREFA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU was as follows:

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

HE
SEERSEEERNHEERE
T

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Air dome construction CGU RIEEERGESE BN - -
The movements during the year are as follows: FREHIAT -
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount at | January 1A BREREE - 29,138
Impairment B - (29,138)
Carrying amount at 3| December 12 A31 BRI RREE - =
Impairment testing of goodwill AR ERE
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the Air BREBESHBENEE D RS
dome construction CGU for impairment testing: RIREER & EE B #EITRENR
A
Air dome construction CGU REBERLELEN
The recoverable amount of the air dome construction CGU has been RIREEIBSEA BN 2] ) E %

determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
[ 1.91% for 31 December 2022. The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the air dome construction unit beyond the five-year period
is 2% for 31 December 2022, which is same as the expected long-term

inflation rate.

FERBEALSREEEMLE
MERFHMBEERKE 2R
enEBRAZEREEFEmME
JE o FR002F12A3I BB RETRE
BIERRAZHTIRER1191% ° 122022
FRANBHESEF R ZRE
Lﬁﬁ{ifi‘f/;lbé?%ﬁﬁziéiﬁ
2% - At RHEBREAER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR B o

For the year ended 3| December 2023
BE2023F 12A31HIEFE

I5.

GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Cont’d)

Air dome construction CGU (Cont’d)

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the construction-related activities
have been seriously disrupted and the performance of Group's air dome
construction business have been adversely affected. Management has
therefore adjusted their financial budgets for the CGU to allow for the
impact of uncertainty on the macro business environment. This had an
adverse impact on the estimated value-in-use of the CGU and impairment
loss on goodwill amounting to HK$29, 138,000 have been recorded in
“Impairment of goodwill” for the year ended 3| December 2022.

The impairment loss attributable to the CGU was also allocated to write
down the assets in the CGU (including property, plant and equipment
HK$3,460,000 and related right-of-use assets HK$ ,093,000.

The key assumption for the value in use calculations

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the air dome
construction CGU for 31 December 2022. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections

to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined budgeted gross margins

based on past performance and its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are after tax and reflect specific

risks relating to the relevant unit.

Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond
the financial budget periods are based on the expected long-term inflation

rate.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of air
dome construction, discount rates and growth rates are consistent with

external information sources.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

BE (&)

AR ERR(#E)
REZELELELEN(F)
FERIBEE  SEBREMRBEET
IBRETE  ToAEERERS
EBHRRZBNTFZE - Bt -
EEEDARBCELBMMIE
BE  UERTHEMHRBHHE
RENTE SHRSELESBNUN
LT ERBEELETHRE  #E
202F2A3IBLIEFE  BERE
E51829,138,000/8 ;L B 52 A 2R
&l

REEEBNEEREBEITTHI
SBE - AMUBSR e EE BT HE
E(BREME - BB k& #3,460,000
78 7T DA R 48 B8 52 B 4 & 2 1,093,000
PBTT ©

EAEE BB ERR
R2022% 128318 » RIEEERS
EEBM 2 EREEAESEHEA
fRe% o L TRIMEEEEITRHER
BEARRREBERSRERAUMEZ
FEEFERE -

BHEEFE - EREREBERR
RE ISR R T
Rz .

THEE-FERZITRERETIE
PR RN RREREM S ERR

BRE-HEEVBRERMER 2R
EREMERZERERTIREEA
REGBIREIEL -

RERETSERNTIZM/KRE
PR R RIRRREAINEDE R R —
B



39,533 1,130 254 40917
(39,533) (1,130) (85) (40,748)




At 3| December 2022 72022412831 H

Cost DN 39,533 1,130 277 40,940
Accumulated amortisation  RFHEEH (39,533) (1,130) (122) (40,785)
Net carrying amount AREDFE - - 155 155
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I8. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
(Cont’d)

@)

Loans to third parties (Cont’d)
The movements in the allowance for credit losses of loans to third

parties are as follows:

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

18. FMNRE - HibBUWRER H A
BE(&)

@)

BE=HRUER )
BB H R RS EARE
ERBIT

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year F1] 627 800
Impairment (Note 6) A (FI7E6) 789 627
Reversal of impairment B E R E] - (772)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 8 BE - (28)
At end of year FR 1,416 627

The directors of the Company regularly review and assess the credit
quality and financial positions of the counterparties, and also the
collateral provided. The directors of the Group have assessed the
market value of the collateral pledged of each individual customer

and considered that the collateral pledged are sufficient.

The directors of the Company considered to recognise the expected
credit loss for loans to third parties amounting to HK$ 1,416,000
(2022: HK$627,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A reversal of impairment loss amounting to HK$772,000 was
recognised upon the loans were repaid by third parties for the year

ended 3| December 2022.

To ensure the adequacy of allowance for ECL on loan receivables,
the Group engaged an independent firm of professional valuers to
conduct a valuation on the allowance for ECL on loan receivables

recognised for each reporting period.

ARRESEHEE LFER
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HEAmOTHEE TR
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B ZE2023F 128318 1t4F
B ARRIEZEZEEBRMR
B REERNEREE
E518 1,416,000 7T (2022 5
627,000/ 7T ) ° B R 20225 12
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Impairment (note 6) RAE (P EE6)

At end of year FR
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contract assets for services are retention receivables and unbilled trade
receivables. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the
rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group issues an

invoice to the customer.

54,993
(25,289)

29,704

28,881
823
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Impairment (note 6)
Written off

Exchange realignment

At end of the year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT ASSETS (Cont’d)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses as well as individually
assessed for certain customers that were with significant default indicators
and credit-impaired. The provision rates for the measurement of the
expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of the
trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from
the same customer bases. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The individually
impaired contract assets related to customers that were credit-impaired or
in default payments and no receivables are expected to be recovered. Set
out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's

contract assets:

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

BRNEEHE)

& B MR AR EETTR
BENTAFTEEMEEER - AR
HUEABREENTRMLREER
RERNE TEPETERNE - &5t
ERNBEENTRMGEEERNER
RNEREEEKFIERE - RA/A
WEERBBFIBERBR—FFE
B o AFTERR TR EER
EEREEEARNRE BHRE
BOEEBESM - BRI RS
RO TER B & 2 AN ] S H5
B o MRRERRESIERATR
MEFPHEBNANEEC @R LR
B B IEFT AU Bl B Y RIE o A
TEHIBRAREENEERFER
BER

2023 2022

Impairment of credit losses assessed by credit {5 &R\ 4H & {5 A R [
risk portfolio using provision matrices HME 2 EEEERE

Expected credit loss rate EHEEBEE 32.30% 17.11%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FRmARE(TET) 43,876 63,744
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TET) 14,172 10,908
Impairment of credit losses assessed individually EEXE&dh 2 15 B EIER(E
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEBEX 100% 95.42%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FREAE(TFET) 1,117 30014
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TET) 1,117 28,640

ERRE X EEEBERA T
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53,080
(41,363)

1,717

4,945

16,662

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
1 68 ANNUAL REPORT 2023




20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and the senior management
regularly reviews any overdue balances. In the view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-

bearing.

At 31 December 2023, MetaSpace and Yuedun Zhizao, two subsidiaries
of the Group, endorsed certain bills receivables accepted by banks in
Mainland China (the “Derecognised Bills") to certain of its suppliers in
order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying
amount in aggregate of RMB280,000 (equivalent to HK$308,000) (2022:
RMB2,300,000 (equivalent to HK$2,578,000)). The Derecognised Bills
had a maturity of five to seven months (2022: two to seven months)
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement™). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of
the directors, the fair values of the Group's Continuing Involvement in the

Derecognised Bills are not significant.

20.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE
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20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The movements in the allowance for credit losses of trade and bills

receivables are as follows:

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

20. BWREREWRE(E)

FEW IR M MR B E BB R R

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TR

At beginning of year F1) 41,590 42413
Impairment (note 6) AE (FiEEe) 5,905 3,866
Whritten off i (5,360) (1,044)
Exchange realignment HE 54, R B (772) (3,645)
At end of year FAR 41,363 41,590

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses as well as individually
assessed for certain customers that were with significant default indicators
and credit-impaired. The provision rates are based on the ageing of
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than five years and are not subject to enforcement activity.
The individually impaired trade receivables related to customers that were
credit-impaired or in default payments and no receivables are expected to

be recovered.
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11.48% 24.13% 47.61%
9,049 3,743 1,655
1,039 903 788

100%
909
909

100%
32,469
32,469

40.53%
19,702
7,985

100%
33,378
33,378




Individually

Expected credit loss rate HEEEERX 1.77% - 100% 9834% 9421%
Gross carrying amount (HK$000) ~ BREAE(FHAT) 1638 - 2313 33433 37,384
Expected credit losses (HK$000) ~ TBEREEBR(THT) 29 = 2313 32877 35219

LREE L EEEEARA
—e-czex 1793



326 176 11,700

(109) @9 (4847 1,003 (378) 330 (4230)
- ) (134) 29) 2 (5) (170)

2204 (376) 501




HK$1000

HK$000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000

HK$'000
TE TEn Thx T TE Thn Thn TR
At I January 2022 RONEIAIA 1,388 956 10843 209 5320 1) 335 20850
Deferred tax credted/(charged) ~ FRBMERAE A/
toprofitorloss duingthe year  (¥8) ZBETERA
(e 10) (Bf&t10) (107) 13 w6 91 w79
Exchange realignment B BE = (%) (769) (144) (248) = (1§) (1,235)
Net deferred tax assets at RONENAIAZ
3| December 2022 BREfRAETR 281 326 8688 129 - - 76 11,700
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

St 3 S M

For the year ended 3| December 2023
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21. DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for

financial reporting purposes:

IESERLIE ()

HREHEM  FETEEHRBEE
KRB BECERAMBARRRTET
HH - IR RS BB ARE
EEFRIRG RO

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET THETT

Deferred tax assets EIERIE B = 7,676 11,700
Deferred tax liabilities EIEMIEA & (376) -
7,300 ['1,700

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$21,989,000 (2022:
HK$27,765,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$2 13,679,000 (2022:
HK$176,070,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against

future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that either have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised, or are not expected
to generate taxable profits in the foreseeable future to utilise the tax losses

due to changes in operation.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

AEEEEAREANTEER
21,989,0007 7T (20224 : 27,765,000
BIL)IEBEANEHEELS
B A A B R R E R R
F o ARE B B R IR E & 7]
FA LA 85 2R 2R JIE AR Bt s Al 2 7 18
/&5 18 213,679,000 7 JT (2022 4F -
176,070,000/ 7T ) I i —E R F 3
Hj o

RN ZEFERBE - RERARE
BEBBRARRTIAREENEHA
751 T 5 1R 1K i AR e ) 2 Y B
AEL  AREEEHMBERTE
TAT] B R 2R A FE AR T4 M A B A
BIAER - BRI % F B RIERE
FERRIREFE °



235,668
25,925

261,593

[1 o = H =

2008 and applies to eamings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding X =

tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China 2 WEAR 2007F 12A318 2
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable BIEERNNODE - MRTER
rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on M ERINE A FTE R A B B &
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in PR R E - Al AT ER A AR A TR
respect of earnings generated from | January 2008. B E o REBEEMAB R R5%3K

10% > Bt - AEBAREFERA
Hh K 37 #)5% 5 BB N R B 20085 |
RIBEEXRBANEIR 2 REBMNTE
o

LREE L EEEEARA
—e—c=zex 107



Raw materials 26,027
Work in progress i 1413
Finished goods [,138

28,578
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The debt investments at FVOCI represents listed corporate bond
investments. They were classified as financial assets at FVOCI as their
contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and they were held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. During the year, investment income from debt investments
at FVOCI recognised in profit or loss and the fair value loss recognised
in other comprehensive income amounted to HK$ 1,534,000 (2022:
HK$1,735,000) and HK$6,782,000 (2022: HK$9,114,000), respectively.

ARERBRAEM K2 &R
KERBLTRARERRE - ZER
BEHREHNESREEREER
MAREERSMNEMNRLIEEEZ
BRBEHNReRERENENE
BEAFE MOoBAAAER
BMAREMEE RS SBHEE - F
ARIBZERNRE A NERBER
Hit 2 E s 2 EBRENKRER
ARREMEZEREBRODN
EE B 5 B A& 1,534,0007% 7T (2022
£ : 1,735,000 7T ) }.6,782,0007%8 7T
(20224F : 9,114,000/87T) °

tREEMLEXRREFRAF
“EC=FEH
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23.

DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

During the year, investment income from financial assets at FVPL
recognised in profit or loss amounted to HK$583,000 (2022:
HK$1,768,000).

The Group's unlisted equity investment represents an equity investment
in an investee (the “Investee”) previously traded on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotation Company (“NEEQ") in the PRC. As at 3|
December 2023 and 2022, the Group holds approximately 0.46% of
equity interest in the Investee. The unlisted equity investment was classified

as financial assets at FVPL.

In February 2020, the Investee submitted a formal application to the
Shanghai Stock Exchange for the proposed listing of its shares on the Sci-
Tech Innovation Board of Shanghai Stock Exchange (“Application”) and the
Application was preliminary accepted by Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Investee delisted its share from NEEQ in October 2020. In October 2022,

the Investee has decided not to continue with the Application.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a positive investment retumn
arising from the changes in fair value of the unlisted equity investment
recognised in profit or loss amounted to HK$548,000 (2022: negative
investment return in profit or loss amounted to HK$1,845,000).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

23.

ARERRREMEEKZZE
BRE DABRRRBERZE
MEE (&)

FR - NBERERNHAAERBR
REBZEZEREEMTRERA
583,000 7T (2022 %F : 1,768,000%
g A

REBAIE EMBRAZEELITR
FEREBEPNEERMNERRS
(INEEQ) BEERETEBEHR([KRE
HR]) ZBRAEZE - R2023F R
202F 12A318 - AEBERBERE
HRE0.46%MHE o ZIE_ LT ARIER
BERBEAANERBAREBRZZ S/

2020628 - REE KRR LEH
FRGIRRIGE LB HFR S
B AR EAERXEBE(] A
Bl BHREELSEHFERSHNL
B REHRR20205F 10 #
NEEQIET o M2022F 108 » &
HERETNBEERE -

HE2023F12A31HIEFE  RiB
mERIELTRARERAAESR
B & 4 /Y IF 2 & [B] #7 548,000 7 T
(2002%F : REREREKRE R K
1,845,000 7T ) °
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24 ERHEFBRTERRAERBITE

BALANCES 53
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Cash and bank balances H® MIRTTAE B4 87,023 105,259
Restricted bank deposits ZRFIRITER 26,523 10,895
113,546 I'16,154

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (RMB) amounted to HK$63,485,000
(2022: HK$80,809,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
of HK$12,353,000 (2022: HK$9,854,000) were pledged to secure the bill
payables with maturity date within one year from the date of reporting

period.

RWERR - AEBUARKTA
REBDAENRERRITERR
63,485,0007%8 7T (2022 4F : 80,809,000
BIT) o ARKETRE B B B EAD
B o A RIBEPBEIAHCINEE
BIEFIDIRERE - SERNEERE
RE)  RNEEFAIEBERELLIN
PE TS 2 IRITIEA R HIRBH A

BT SRIRES BRI FHAIE
HE 2T B RIS o BITE
$4 T TF O 3 43 E38 40 3R T AL
(S EEIRTT -

R EHR > AEEHZR G R
17 7F 3K 12,353,000 7% 7T (2022 & -
9,854,000/8 7 ) 4K - LARLEIERE
AREHRBE—FANENZIR
((SEEI
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24.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES (Cont'd)

As at 3| December 2023, the Group's restricted bank deposits of
HK$8,674,000 were restricted for use in relation to guarantee deposit for

performing the construction contract.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of
HK$4,244,000 were restricted for use in relation to a counter-claim by a
customer in Mainland China. On | August 2022, a subsidiary of the Group
initiated an arbitration against a customer for alleged default in payment
of construction service income in an aggregate amount of RMB9, 121,154
(equivalent to HK$10,035,000) which was recognised as trade receivables.
On 10 April 2023, Beijing Arbitration Commission adjudicated the
customer had obligation on the defaulted payment. On 19 Jun 2023, a
counter-claim was initiated by a customer to demand for (i) repairs on
the air dome; (ii) installation of air-conditioners; and (iii) the economic
loss due to the poor quality of work performed by the subsidiary. On 30
November 2023, the Court adjudicated the subsidiary was obligated to
carry out repairs and installation of air-conditioners but dismissed the other

claims on the air dome.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

24.

ZREARTERRESRBITE
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M2023F 128318 * ZAEERZR
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24.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES (Cont'd)

As at 3| December 2023, the Group's restricted bank deposits of
HK$23 1,000 were restricted for use in relation to outstanding litigations
commenced by a supplier in Mainland China against a subsidiary of the
Group for alleged default in payment of outstanding sub-contracting fees
in an aggregate amount of RMB207,577 (equivalent to HK$229,000) and
all related interests and expenses. The cases were either dismissed by the
Court or settled after the end of the reporting period. The sub-contracting
fees were recognised as trade payables and the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the provision of related interests and expenses for
the above litigations is sufficient in the consolidated statement of financial

position as at 3| December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's restricted bank deposits of
HK$ 1,021,000 (2022: HK$1,041,000) were restricted for use in relation
to outstanding litigation commenced by a departed employee in Mainland
China against a subsidiary of the Group for an appeal of an arbitration
decision in relation to labour dispute amounting to RMB928,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,021,000) (2022: RMB903,000 (equivalent to HK$1,012,000)) and
related expenses. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the disputed commission and related expenses claimed by the departed
employee were unreasonable and no provision for the dispute has been

provided.
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ZREBITERRRAERBITE
ER(4E)

M2023F 128318 * ZAEERZR
#1188 7 7% 3% 231,000 78 JT 4% PR 1 1
B uhEErEEn—HEEA
AP B A E — R EEIRE
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AR AR 207577 (FBE
72229,0008 7T ) BIR&E D B EIA K
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RRRESZRR - R2023F 12431
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AR BENERAIBRECDBR
% o

F2023F 12 A318 - AEBHER
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Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one year. Hi BB E - FHERA
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d) 27. FHESRITRHEMERE)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAET
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIRITEN
Within one year —FR 24,133 23,664
Other borrowings repayable: JEMEIR M fEK -
Within one year or on demand —FAFIRER - 3,075
24,133 26,739

Notes:

(®)

@

The Group's secured bank loans at the end of the reporting period were secured
by mortgages over the Group’s right-of-use assets (Note 14) and buildings
(Note 12) with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting period
of approximately HK$19,651,000 and HK$50,524,000, respectively (2022:
HK$20,497,000 and HK$56,476,000, respectively). The bank loans bore interest
rate with reference to the loan prime rate (“LPR") promulgated by the National
Interbank Funding Center under the authority of the People's Bank of China.

As at 3|1 December 2023, the Group's secured bank loans were guaranteed by
a director of the subsidiary. As as 3| December 2022, the Group's secured bank
loans were guaranteed by independent financing guarantee company. The fee
charged by the independent financing guarantee company was amortised over the
loan period and recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 3| December
2022. The guarantee provided by the independent financing guarantee company
was secured by mortgages over the Group's building with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$976,000 and guaranteed by a director of the
subsidiary.

The bank loans at the end of the reporting period bore interest rate with
reference to the LPR promulgated by the National Interbank Funding Center
under the authority of the People’s Bank of China.

The balance represents a loan from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
of the Group is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

All of the Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB.

Wi

(®)

©

AEBMPHRE AR GRBET
EXAAEEAFEREEE (M
14) R8T (MizE12) (RBEBRZ
BRE R E 2 5l A 47 19,651,000 7T
$.50,524,0007% 70 (20224F :© B3l A
20,497,0007 7T 556,476,000/ 7T ) 1%
BIEH - RITERNFELREFH
ARRIT NEMN 2 BIRITHER
ERLBEMHERERFE([ER
ERERIE]) -

R2023%F 128318 KEEZA
BB TEREHNBARIES
PR o R202F 128318 » K&
Bz HERBTEREABLRE
BRARER - BUBMEERAR
Uk By ) B F A B 3K H R 8 B 0 A AR
FE0NF12A3HILFE R B
R o B R E R FIREAER
AL EEFIZIBERT - REA
E#7976,000%8 70 + WA E R FIE
EHER -

RBERRZBITERNFR2E
PEAREIT NENZ2BERTRER
FREROBEMEERERFE -

FERR AN S B I B X B SRR AR AR R
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TR NMBRERIERE
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29.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the ““Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who

contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.

The share option scheme (“Old Scheme”) became effective on 3
December 201 | and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions
passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
I8 June 2021, the Company approved the termination of Old Scheme
and adoption of new share option scheme (“New Scheme”). The New
Scheme will be expired on |7 June 2031 if not be terminated by any

general meeting earlier.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of the
Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of the
Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-controlling shareholder

in the Company'’s subsidiaries.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to
be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any |2-month period is limited to % of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in

excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company's
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any |2-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.
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29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont'd) 29. BRRESTEI(E)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from REBERE ZHTRELN B
the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$! in FRIRKANBEARAZNEERES
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is HIBTTR T LA - PRI L BARE
determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period of ZITEBIHREREE YR — &
one to three years and ends on a date which is not later than five years —FRBHERE KRR TERE
from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the MRIEZ %) B HARE ST T 6 oat &l /E
Scheme, if earlier. HERAE (AREERE) -
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but BREZITEERESETE T
may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of BERATZE®EE : (VA2 EIR
the Company's shares on the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the MR EERREZ 40 B AR B R AT 2 WK
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five ME: & (VA ARRMREEZEZLD
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer. HEAR AR 5 B ER R Az ¥
Wi fE o
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote BRI N T A AMEUR B sk
at shareholders’ meetings. RIRRARGREZHER]
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during AT AEARBREIRARITEZE
the year: PRHE -
2023 2022
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average  share options average  share options
exercise price outstanding  exercise price outstanding
MEFE  EARTREZ MEFE  mRTRZ
THE BREHRE TEE  RBiREZA
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET TR FRET TR
At | January RIAIR 0.764 35,142 0764 36732
Lapsed during the year FRKM - - 0.764 (1,590)
At 31 December »I12A318 0.764 35,142 0.764 35,142

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED



0.764 until 7 April 2026
BEE2026F4H7H

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of B2 ITEERS AR T
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. AT A% sk AN A B IR 2 H b FE L& &

LREE L EEEEARA
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the

current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

@)

(b)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents (i) the differences between the
considerations of equity transactions and the corresponding carrying
amounts of non-controlling interests; and (i) the differences between
the nominal amount of share capital issued by the Company and the
nominal amount of share capital of the then subsidiaries transferred
to the Company pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group that

took place in 201 I.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises the exchange differences arising

on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

Statutory and legal reserves

Under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, PRC companies are
required to allocate 0% of their net profit to the fund until such
fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The statutory reserve
fund can be utilised, upon approval by the relevant authorities, to
offset against accumulated losses or to increase registered capital of
the companies, provided that such fund is maintained at a minimum

of 25% of the companies registered capital.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in Note
2.4. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised or transferred to

accumulated losses should the related options expire.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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() ZEREGLEE

RIBEREFEERZRER - F
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Al E AM50% AL © ETE
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25%KIFE o

(d) RO HBERONRERE
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(not a)

Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling
interests (HK$'000)
— Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries

Accumulated balances of non-controlling
interests at the end of the reporting period
(HK$'000)

— Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries

Notes:

GESY

DEEIHERERNER
ER(TET)
—PFERENEMBAR

TR S B A
REtiER(TAT)

R EEEREMEAT

(@  Swift Knight Limited is an investment holding company which indirectly holds,
through Zhong Hu Sports, a 51.66% equity interest in MetaSpace which, together
with its subsidiaries, is principally engaged in the air dome-related business and
sports stadium operation.

48.34%

(19.823)

77,587

Swift Knight Limited 4 — 8 1% & 15 i
AR BRPEEEEERANE
51.66%A% 1 - T 4718 2 [F) EFfT B A
Al ENEREREEBREEE
EiE .

EREEMEXREERRAF
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60,709
(102,041)
(41,332)
(41,332)

155,129
91,546
(115,656)
(1,281)

(3,685)

(856)

(1,636)
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DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. HEKEAFE

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group, through its wholly- REZE02FI2A3IBIEFEE - K
owned subsidiaries, entered into two agreements to dispose of the SEFEREZEMBRRGIIMG
entire equity interests in two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing & HEMERZEZERB AR
Zhonghu Fenghuang Sports Culture Development Co., Ltd. and Pacific IERFPEREBEEERERA
Empire Logistics Limited, at a cash consideration of Nil and HK$900,000, AIRBEARMRBR A AR E A
respectively, as part of the internal reorganisation to simplify the Group's - BHeRE DRI /Z 5900000
structure. The disposals were completed during the year ended 3| BT ERBEAEERBEN AR
December 2022. BAEN—HH c HEFHEREZR

20024 1231 BIEEERK o

Details of the disposal were as follows: HEZENFENT :
2022
HK$'000
FAETT
Net assets disposed of: BEHREEERE
Property, plant and equipment (note 12) YIZ - R R (BEEE12) 2
Trade and other receivables JEWURRIE I B At FE W kIR 364
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERNRIE -« 11E KA EKIE ['1,959
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEER 232
Trade and other payables JE A~ 3R I8 K ELAth B A5 K08 (11,332)
Tax payables JERH 18 (1,132)
93
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve R EBINE R B D BINEIRE
upon disposal of foreign operations G (425)
Total #Et (332)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 5) HEMB AR 2 W (FEES) 1,232
Satisfied by: AR
Cash wRe 900

ERBE L EREWERA
: =% 195
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32. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the

disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

32. HEMBEXRGE)

FRALENBARNREMRESE
EYMORAFEINT

2022

HK$'000

FAT

Cash consideration ReRE 900

Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of B BEHERE RRITESK (232)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the BT ENBARIZRERRS

disposal of a subsidiary ZEMRAFE 668

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$8 13,000 and
HK$813,000 (2022: HK$6,243,000 and HK$6,243,000), respectively,

in respect of lease arrangements for properties.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

33. MABEHRERME

@ EXFREXH
HE22F12A8318IF
B AEEEHEEFHESR
HEAREEREEAR
ZIEREARE D Kl /813,000
75 7T 1 813,000/ 7T (2022 4F -
6,243,000 & JT K 6,243,000 /&

JT) e
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont’d) 36. £RTEERI(E)
Financial liabilities by category RERESHNERMEE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
At amortised cost RESEHATTE
Trade and bills payables JEAH TR IE N B R AR 44,324 49,807
Other payables and accruals excluding HuE B R ETER
non-financial liabilities (TEEFEREE) 18,543 17,757
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEERTT R E M AR 24,133 26,739
Lease liabilities HERE 9,103 13,054
96,103 107,357

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 37. ERMIBCZAAREBERAAERER
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, ERENLERS  RERBRITE
restricted bank deposits, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included £~ XBRHIRITER - BURIER
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills payables JEWRE - s ATERIZRIE - A fhfE
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate WHRIEREMEEZ SREE /&
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these T RIE S BN R 4R At A B A FE A
instruments. FEREGFEAYZERABEZA

REEEEEZEREEABIES -
FTERHNZETANEHRNTIE -

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for determining the policies AEEMBREAEETTESR
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At TEARARBEZBRERRER - BB
each reporting date, the valuation is approved by the chief financial officer. HHE - MEBMGEEE -

ERRE X EEEBERA T
: =5 201
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the

fair values:

The fair value of bills receivables has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments

with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed debt investments are based on quoted bid prices

provided by broker/financial institutions in the over-the-counter markets.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 has been estimated using a market approach by a number of
significant unobservable inputs including the market value of invested price
to sales (P/S) multiple and adjustment for a lack of marketability associated
with the investment. The Group had engaged an external valuation expert
with the recognised professional qualifications and recent experience to

perform valuation for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related change in fair values, which is recorded in
profit or loss, are reasonable, and that it was the most appropriate value at

the end of the reporting period.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

37.
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 37.

INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of unlisted equity investment as at 31 December 2023

and 2022 was determined by the management based on the valuation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

performed by an independent professional qualified valuer.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of

financial quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

EMITAZAABERAAEER

(4&)
DRERBR

R2023% 20224 12A318 » FkE
MREREN AR EHEEBRE

BYEXRABBEMETHNRHERE

—
iE °

R2023F K202 12831 H
EEHXREDMHENERTIE

R

EEABBHMENT
Valuation Significant Value of significant  Sensitivity of
technique unobservable inputs unobservable inputs fair value to the inputs
EARTHE EARTHE
fRE M WA S BABBEE RAEHEARBHNERE
Unlisted equity Valuation Average P/S multiple [0.14 (2022: 11) 5% increase/decrease in multiple
investment multiples of peers would result in increase/decrease
in fair value by HK$49,000 (2022:
HK$23,000)
FEEMBEAKE HEEE [R5 FHIP/STE &K 10.14(2022%F : 11) (REUEIN, R 5% BE

The discount for lack of liquidity represents the amounts of premiums and

discounts determined by the Group that market participants would take

Discount for lack of

liquidity

R B TR

into account when pricing the investment.

15.70%
(2022: 16%)

15.70%
(2022 : 16%)

o

2

NAEIEIN, 8 449,000 7T
(20224 : 23,0007 7T)

| % increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/increase
in fair value by HK$30,000 (2022:
HK$4,000)

e o, m A | %I
AR(ERD,/ 18 H0130,000/E 7T
(20224 : 4,000%7T)

ZRBETEEASEETMS
HEEEITIRE EEBRKE EH

MBS ITREER o

EtREEXEXEERRAR
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1,664 12,670 15,214




(BIE) (F2E) (F3E) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT

Debt investments at FVOC| ARERBRE M2 ERE
ZEHRE - 13,733 - 13,733

Financial assets at FVPL ARERMNERZ SR/

BE 2527 - 468 2995

Bills receivables at FVOCI AAERMPNEM S Ak
LRBEE - 1243 - 1243
2527 14976 468 [7971

LRBE X EREEERAD
—e—zzz5 205
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL  37. €RMITAZAABERAAEER
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d) DARERBR(E)
Assets measured at fair value (Cont’d) RAENEBZEEE)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year FREIBAABEENEENT :
are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET
Equity investment at FVPL: ARERERER 2 RA
RE
At | January MWIAIR 468 2,446
Amount recognised in profit or loss RERERZ SRR 548 (1,845)
Exchange realignment bE 54, S8 B (136) (133)
At 3| December RI12A318 880 468
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 2023 12 A31 B %2022 12 A3
31 December 2023 and 3| December 2022. B AEEYEITARARENE
ZET@ARE -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FR - cRHEEREHBEESIE
between Level | and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for RE2E 2 RIHEER R AENE -
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: nil). TR A E3E ( 2022F -
') -
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 38. MBEMEZREBERBER

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank
balances, debt investments and financial assets at FVPL. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
and bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from

its operations.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

AEBTESRMTABRRERE N
RITHERR - EHFREURARER
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont’d)

The main risks arising from the Group'’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and

they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's borrowings with floating interest rates.
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and

variable rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2023, if interest rates had been |00 basis points (2022:
100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables held constant, the
Group's loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)

for the year ended 3| December 2023 would increase/decrease by
HK$241,000 (2022: HK$237,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the end of the next annual

reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.

38.

S R S M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 1231 HIEFE

BBEREERBRREEE)

AEEERMT A T 2RER A E
Rk - SMNERR - EEER & RE
BEoRkR - -EFgRa kAEERE
EB2FER < BORA MM T -

MRk
AEEEBRAN TSN X ESHRR
REARENFEEREH °ZK§E
B HBOR A B E B MOE BB A
BEREFBRA o

R20234E 128318 - fFIE T+
T 2K 10016 £ B (2022 4F : 1001E E
2L - MATEEMBERETE - A
REEEZE2023F12A31BEFE
ZBRBAIESIE(ZZEEBRZTE)
#3850, 84241 00058 7T (20224F
237,000%7T) ©

EBURES T HEREAEE TR
s A RR D B A REARZ
HEGEN SR T A RERMmE
JE o I00MEER EHAXTHIEEE
BYEZE T EFE 3RS BAE 4 RE
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group's exposure to foreign
exchange risks also related to bank balances denominated in and debt
investments denominated in United States Dollars (USD). The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy as management
considers its exposure is not significant. It manages its foreign currency risk

by closely monitoring the movements in the foreign currency rates.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB, management considers that the business is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group are denominated in the currencies other than the

respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign exchange risk between
US$ and HK$ as they are linked between each other under the Linked
Exchange Rate System.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances

are monitored on an ongoing basis.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont’d)
Credit risk (Cont’d)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2022

38.

BBEREERBRREEE)

EERB (&)
RARBRERER FREER (&)
20224 12 A31 B

|2-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A T8 &
FEER REBEHEEER
Simplified
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEERI FEER2 B3 EEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TET TET AT
Debt investments at FVOCI ARERBREMER
a2 BEIRE 1846 - 11,887 - 13,733
Contract assets* AHNEE* - - - 93758 93758
Trade receivables* U ZRIE* = = - 51,560 51,560
Bills receivables AES 1243 = — = 1243
Financial assets included in STATBRFUR - EfER
prepayments, other receivables HEREMBENSE
and other assets BE 17,576 10,000 - - 27,576
Restricted bank deposits and cash X BRHIRTFRARIF &
and bank balances RERITHERR
— Not yet past due — R 116,154 — — = 116,154
136,819 10,000 11,887 145318 304,024

*

For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in Notes |9 and 20.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from contract assets and trade receivables are disclosed in Notes |9
and 20.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  38. HiHEfEIEBERBUER(E)
(Cont’d)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d) RENE SRR (E)
2022
On demand Over
or within | year | year Total
BB
R—F A —F A E e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT THETT
Trade and bills payables ANE NS AN ESS 49,807 — 49,807
Financial liabilities included in other  &T AELARFE(S 5RIB K fEAT
payables and accruals ERMEREE 17,757 - 17,757
Interest-bearing bank and other FHERTTREALERK
borrowings 34,497 = 34,497
Lease liabilities HERE 5,339 14,641 19,980
107,400 14,641 122,041
Price risk EEE R

The Group's financial assets at FVOCI and FVPL (Note 23) are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity and debt price risk. The directors manage this exposure

by maintaining a portfolio of investments with difference risk profiles.

At 31 December 2023, if the prices of the debt investments increase/
decrease by 0%, a fair value gain/loss of approximately HK$645,000 (2022:
HK$1,147,000) would be recognised in other comprehensive income or

loss.

At 3| December 2023, if the prices of the equity investments increase/
decrease by 0%, a fair value gain/loss of approximately HK$ 191,000 (2022:
HK$225,000) would be recognised in profit or loss.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  38. HiEMREEBERBER(E)
(Cont’d)
Capital management EXERE
The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard AEBEARER T EZHRRER
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy REEFELE REFREEARL
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders EHEe ] MAREEBREESIFER
value. RIRREREANEE °
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it AEEERHERER  WHLE
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics BRRAEEE Er R R R B
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the R o RS [E A AR FE B (A AR BRI
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital BZRE - MREREEARNET
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any IR - AR AR E R -
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the AEBHBEETEMINGERR
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years JE o RBIE20235F 12 A31 B %2022
ended 3| December 2023 and 3| December 2022. FRANBILEFRETERERER
HERF - BERIGBEELHEE -
The Group monitors capital using the ratio of total liabilities to total assets. AEBFERABBRUEEEZL
The ratios of total liabilities to total assets as at the end of the reporting KREEER o  RIEHR BEE
periods were as follows: BRABEEZLZMT :
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Total liabilities mafE 145,891 130917
Total assets mEE 335,205 386,524
Ratio HE 44% 34%
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 39. LEBEE

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current

year's presentation.

ETHREBEERDBEUAFTER
FENZT

ERBE L EREWERA
: =5 213
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692,676 16,686 (2,395) (472,551) 234416
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2,474
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